
Thursday, June 9, 2022 AGENDA Page 1 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE 
REGULAR MEETING 

Thursday, June 9, 2022 
10:00 AM

Committee Members: 
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Kate Harrison and Lori Droste 

Alternate: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani 

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e) and the state declared emergency, this 
meeting of the City Council Budget & Finance Committee will be conducted exclusively through 
teleconference and Zoom videoconference. The COVID-19 state of emergency continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person and presents imminent risks 
to the health of attendees. Therefore, no physical meeting location will be available.   

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or 
Android device: Use URL - https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85306172119 . If you do not wish for 
your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the 
screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 
853 0617 2119. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press 
*9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Budget & Finance Committee by 
5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the 
Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record.  

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85306172119


   

Thursday, June 9, 2022 AGENDA Page 2 

AGENDA 
 

Roll Call 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters 
 
 

Minutes for Approval 
 Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval. 

 
1.  Minutes - May 19, 2022 and May 26, 2022 

 
Committee Action Items 
 The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 

will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. 

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council. 
 

2.  Discussion on Proposed Biennial Budget & CIP Recommendations 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000 

 
3.  Council Fiscal Policies 

From: City Manager 
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000 

 
4.  Recommendation on Climate, Building Electrification, and Sustainable 

Transportation Budget Priorities for Fiscal Year 2023 and 2024 
From: Energy Commission 
Referred: April 11, 2022 
Due: September 26, 2022 
Recommendation: The Energy Commission recommends that the Berkeley City 
Council prioritize and include in the City’s budget for the Fiscal Years Ending (FYE) 
2023 and 2024 several staff positions, pilot projects, investments in electric vehicles 
and charging infrastructure, and other measures to ensure that the City’s budget is 
aligned with and provides adequate and needed funding to implement the City’s 
adopted Climate Action Plan, Electric Mobility Roadmap, Building Emissions Saving 
Ordinance, 2019 ban on gas in new construction, and the Existing Buildings 
Electrification Strategy.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Billi Romain, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-7400 

 

2



   

Committee Action Items 

Thursday, June 9, 2022 AGENDA Page 3 

5.  Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council 
Office Staff Expenditures 
From: Councilmember Bartlett (Author), Councilmember Robinson (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Harrison (Co-Sponsor), Councilmember Taplin (Co-
Sponsor) 
Referred: May 24, 2022 
Due: November 8, 2022 
Recommendation: Refer to the Budget and Finance Committee to consider updates 
to the guidelines and procedures for City Council office budget expenditure accounts 
with regards to City Council staff salaries and fringe benefits expenditures and an 
accompanying Budget Referral of approximately $1,226,619.52 for the FY 22-23 
June Budget process.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Ben Bartlett, Councilmember, District 3, (510) 981-7130 

 
Unscheduled Items 
 These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 

these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. 
 

6.  Accept the Risk Analysis for Long-Term Debt (Bonding Capacity) Report 
provided by Government Finance Officers Association 
From: City Manager 
Referred: April 26. 2022 
Due: October 11, 2022 
Recommendation: Accept the report titled ‘Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of 
Long-Term Debt Affordability’ as provided by the Government Finance Officers 
Association (GFOA). This report is based on their research and development of a 
risk-modeling tool to address issuing long-term debt related to City of Berkeley Vision 
2050. 
On April 26, 2022, the City Council referred this item to the City Manager and Budget 
& Finance Committee to return to Council with recommendations or analysis on as 
many of the following items as possible by October 2022, if feasible. 1) 
Consideration of reserves policies for operational funds other than the General Fund; 
2) Potential reduction of the maximum indebtedness rate from 15% of assessed 
property value down to 4-8% range; 3) A new policy to not incur indebtedness when 
interest rates go above 5% or a different specific threshold; 4) Tools for increased 
transparency for taxpayers; 5) Updated report and discussion of pension and 
healthcare costs; 6) Refer the full Report to the Budget & Finance Committee for 
consideration.  
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300 

 
7.  Discussion and Development of Criteria and Timing for AAO Process 

From: Mayor Arreguin 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100 

3



   

Thursday, June 9, 2022 AGENDA Page 4 

Items for Future Agendas 
• Discussion of items to be added to future agendas 

Adjournment
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Written communications addressed to the Budget & Finance Committee and submitted to the City Clerk 
Department will be distributed to the Committee prior to the meeting. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953. 
Members of the City Council who are not members of the standing committee may attend a standing 
committee meeting even if it results in a quorum being present, provided that the non-members only act 
as observers and do not participate in the meeting. If only one member of the Council who is not a 
member of the committee is present for the meeting, the member may participate in the meeting because 
less than a quorum of the full Council is present. Any member of the public may attend this meeting.  
Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 981-6900. 
 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including 
auxiliary aids or services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 
(V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before the meeting date. 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Standing Committee of the Berkeley City Council 
was posted at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on June 2, 2022. 

 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Communications 
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info. 

4

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


  

Thursday, May 19, 2022 MINUTES Page 1

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES

Thursday, May 19, 2022
9:00 AM

Committee Members: 
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Kate Harrison and Lori Droste

Alternate: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e) and the state declared emergency, this meeting 
of the City Council Budget & Finance Committee will be conducted exclusively through 
teleconference and Zoom videoconference. The COVID-19 state of emergency continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person and presents imminent risks to 
the health of attendees. Therefore, no physical meeting location will be available.  

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or 
Android device: Use URL - https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85289343269. If you do not wish for 
your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the 
screen.

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 852 
8934 3269. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 
and wait to be recognized by the Chair. 

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Budget & Finance Committee by 5:00 
p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the Committee 
in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record. 

Page 1 of 8

5

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85289343269
arichardson
Typewritten Text
01



  

Thursday, May 19, 2022 MINUTES Page 2

AGENDA

Roll Call: 9:03 a.m. Kesarwani absent. 

Committee Action Items
The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

1. Recommendation on Climate, Building Electrification, and Sustainable 
Transportation Budget Priorities for Fiscal Year 2023 and 2024
From: Energy Commission
Referred: April 11, 2022
Due: September 26, 2022
Recommendation: The Energy Commission recommends that the Berkeley City 
Council prioritize and include in the City’s budget for the Fiscal Years Ending (FYE) 
2023 and 2024 several staff positions, pilot projects, investments in electric vehicles 
and charging infrastructure, and other measures to ensure that the City’s budget is 
aligned with and provides adequate and needed funding to implement the City’s 
adopted Climate Action Plan, Electric Mobility Roadmap, Building Emissions Saving 
Ordinance, 2019 ban on gas in new construction, and the Existing Buildings 
Electrification Strategy. 
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Billi Romain, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-7400

Councilmember Kesarwani present at 9:13 a.m.

Action: 3 speakers. Discussion held. M/S/C (Droste/Kesarwani) to continue the 
item to Unscheduled to be considered with the FY 23 & 24 budget. 
Vote: All Ayes. 

2. Presentation on FY 23 Proposed Fees
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 1 speaker. Presentation made and discussion held. M/S/C 
(Droste/Kesarwani) to approve the presentation for Council (scheduled for the 
City Council meeting on May 24, 2022).
Vote: All Ayes. 

Councilmember Kesarwani absent at 10:03 a.m.

Page 2 of 8

6



  

Committee Action Items

Thursday, May 19, 2022 MINUTES Page 3

3. Discussion on Proposed Biennial Budget & CIP Recommendations
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 1 speaker. Presentation made and discussion held. Item continued to 
next meeting. 

4. Review of Council's Fiscal Policies
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Item continued to meeting on June 9, 2022. 

Unscheduled Items
These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting.

5. Discussion and Development of Criteria and Timing for AAO Process
From: Mayor Arreguin
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

6. Accept the Risk Analysis for Long-Term Debt (Bonding Capacity) Report 
provided by Government Finance Officers Association
From: City Manager
Referred: April 26. 2022
Due: October 11, 2022
Recommendation: Accept the report titled ‘Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of 
Long-Term Debt Affordability’ as provided by the Government Finance Officers 
Association (GFOA). This report is based on their research and development of a 
risk-modeling tool to address issuing long-term debt related to City of Berkeley Vision 
2050.
On April 26, 2022, the City Council referred this item to the ity Manager and Budget 
& Finance Committee to return to Council with recommendations or analysis on as 
many of the following items as possible by October 2022, if feasible. 1) 
Consideration of reserves policies for operational funds other than the General Fund; 
2) Potential reduction of the maximum indebtedness rate from 15% of assessed 
property value down to 4-8% range; 3) A new policy to not incur indebtedness when 
interest rates go above 5% or a different specific threshold; 4) Tools for increased 
transparency for taxpayers; 5) Updated report and discussion of pension and 
healthcare costs; 6) Refer the full Report to the Budget & Finance Committee for 
consideration. 
Financial Implications: None
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300

Items for Future Agendas
 Discussion of items to be added to future agendas

Page 3 of 8

7



  
  

Thursday, May 19, 2022 MINUTES Page 4

Adjournment

Action: M/S/C (Harrison/Droste) to adjourn the meeting. 
Vote: Ayes – Harrison, Droste; Noes – None; Abstain – None; Absent – Kesarwani.

Adjourned at 11:51 a.m.

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct record of the Budget & Finance Committee 
meeting held on May 19, 2022. 

____________________________
  April Richardson, Assistant City Clerk

Communications
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info.

Page 4 of 8

8

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


  

Thursday, May 26, 2022 MINUTES Page 1

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL BUDGET & FINANCE COMMITTEE
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Thursday, May 26, 2022
10:00 AM

Committee Members: 
Mayor Jesse Arreguin, Councilmembers Kate Harrison and Lori Droste

Alternate: Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e) and the state declared emergency, this meeting 
of the City Council Budget & Finance Committee will be conducted exclusively through 
teleconference and Zoom videoconference. The COVID-19 state of emergency continues to 
directly impact the ability of the members to meet safely in person and presents imminent risks to 
the health of attendees. Therefore, no physical meeting location will be available.  

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or 
Android device: Use URL - https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82547507309.  If you do not wish for your 
name to appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename 
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen.

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 825 
4750 7309. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9 
and wait to be recognized by the Chair. 

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Budget & Finance Committee by 5:00 
p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed to the members of the Committee 
in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official record. 

Page 5 of 8

9

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82547507309


  

Thursday, May 26, 2022 MINUTES Page 2

AGENDA

Roll Call: 10:05 a.m. All present (Kesarwani as alternate for Harrison).

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: 2 speakers.

Minutes for Approval
Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval.

1. Minutes - May 12, 2022

Action: M/S/C (Droste/Arreguin) to approve the minutes of May 12, 2022.
Vote: All Ayes.

Committee Action Items
The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair 
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may 
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the 
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future 
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

2. Legislative Update on Governor's FY 22-23 May Revision Budget and State & 
Federal Legislation
From: City Manager
Contact: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 2 speakers. Presentation made and discussion held. 

3. Discussion on Proposed Biennial Budget & CIP Recommendations
From: City Manager
Contact: Sharon Friedrichsen, Budget Manager, (510) 981-7000

Action: 8 speakers. Presentation made and discussion held. 

Unscheduled Items
These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting.  The Committee may schedule 
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting.

4. Discussion and Development of Criteria and Timing for AAO Process
From: Mayor Arreguin
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

Page 6 of 8

10



  

Unscheduled Items

Thursday, May 26, 2022 MINUTES Page 3

5. Recommendation on Climate, Building Electrification, and Sustainable 
Transportation Budget Priorities for Fiscal Year 2023 and 2024
From: Energy Commission
Referred: April 11, 2022
Due: September 26, 2022
Recommendation: The Energy Commission recommends that the Berkeley City 
Council prioritize and include in the City’s budget for the Fiscal Years Ending (FYE) 
2023 and 2024 several staff positions, pilot projects, investments in electric vehicles 
and charging infrastructure, and other measures to ensure that the City’s budget is 
aligned with and provides adequate and needed funding to implement the City’s 
adopted Climate Action Plan, Electric Mobility Roadmap, Building Emissions Saving 
Ordinance, 2019 ban on gas in new construction, and the Existing Buildings 
Electrification Strategy. 
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Billi Romain, Commission Secretary, (510) 981-7400

6. Accept the Risk Analysis for Long-Term Debt (Bonding Capacity) Report 
provided by Government Finance Officers Association
From: City Manager
Referred: April 26. 2022
Due: October 11, 2022
Recommendation: Accept the report titled ‘Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of 
Long-Term Debt Affordability’ as provided by the Government Finance Officers 
Association (GFOA). This report is based on their research and development of a 
risk-modeling tool to address issuing long-term debt related to City of Berkeley Vision 
2050.
On April 26, 2022, the City Council referred this item to the City Manager and Budget 
& Finance Committee to return to Council with recommendations or analysis on as 
many of the following items as possible by October 2022, if feasible. 1) 
Consideration of reserves policies for operational funds other than the General Fund; 
2) Potential reduction of the maximum indebtedness rate from 15% of assessed 
property value down to 4-8% range; 3) A new policy to not incur indebtedness when 
interest rates go above 5% or a different specific threshold; 4) Tools for increased 
transparency for taxpayers; 5) Updated report and discussion of pension and 
healthcare costs; 6) Refer the full Report to the Budget & Finance Committee for 
consideration. 
Financial Implications: None
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300

Items for Future Agendas
 Discussion of items to be added to future agendas

Adjournment

Action: M/S/C (Arreguin/Droste) to adjourn the meeting. 
Vote: All Ayes.

Page 7 of 8

11



  
  
  

Thursday, May 26, 2022 MINUTES Page 4

Adjourned at 12:27 p.m.

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct record of the Budget & Finance Committee 
meeting held on May 26, 2022. 

____________________________
  April Richardson, Assistant City Clerk

Communications
Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk 
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info.

Page 8 of 8

12

mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info


No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-
finance

Page 1 of 1

13

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-finance
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-finance
arichardson
Typewritten Text
02



14



  

No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-
finance

Page 1 of 1

15

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-finance
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-finance
arichardson
Typewritten Text
03



16



  

Energy Commission

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
April 26, 2022

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Energy Commission
Submitted by: Bentham Paulos, Chairperson, Energy Commission
Subject: Recommendation on Climate, Building Electrification, and Sustainable 

Transportation Budget Priorities for Fiscal Year 2023 and 2024

RECOMMENDATION
The Energy Commission recommends that the Berkeley City Council prioritize and 
include in the City’s budget for the Fiscal Years Ending (FYE) 2023 and 2024 several 
staff positions, pilot projects, investments in electric vehicles and charging 
infrastructure, and other measures to ensure that the City’s budget is aligned with and 
provides adequate and needed funding to implement the City’s adopted Climate Action 
Plan, Electric Mobility Roadmap, Building Emissions Saving Ordinance, 2019 ban on 
gas in new construction, and the Existing Buildings Electrification Strategy.   

SUMMARY  
In this memo, the Energy Commission (which disbanded March 31, 2022, and was 
merged with the Community Environmental Advisory Commission in April 2022) 
provides details on specific budget and funding priorities for: staffing an Electric Mobility 
Coordinator and the Green Buildings Program Manager; fully funding the Building 
Electrification and Just Transition pilot project (especially to avoid risking loss of state 
funding); accelerate funding for the City’s delayed fleet replacement with electric 
vehicles, residential electric vehicle charging infrastructure, and electric bike parking 
infrastructure; expanding public engagement and outreach; leveraging street 
maintenance budgets to incorporate and promote low-carbon mobility; and adopting 
policies and creating incentive programs to advance transportation and building 
electrification such as using the Transportation Network Company (TNC) User Tax 
General Fund revenue to fund bike and pedestrian projects and using a portion of the 
Transfer Tax to create an incentive program for residential building electrification.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The specific fiscal impacts are detailed in the budget recommendations below. At least 
one of our priority budget recommendations – to fully fund the Building Electrification 
and Just Transition pilot – is urgent and time-sensitive and cannot wait until the June 
budget process. Any delay risks Berkeley losing access to substantial state funding that 
could support this pilot. 

Page 1 of 12

17

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager
arichardson
Typewritten Text
04



  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Berkeley has been a world leader on climate change and building electrification, as well 
as on zero waste. The City has already adopted an ambitious climate action plan and 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction goals.1 Between our Building Emissions 
Savings Ordinance2, 2019 ban on gas in new construction, the 100% renewable option 
with East Bay Community Energy, and the Existing Buildings Electrification Strategy3 
(BEBES), approved by the Council last year4, we continue to lead the world with our 
thoughtfulness and action.

However, the task in front of us is daunting. With 60% of the City’s emissions coming 
from the transportation sector and 36% from the building sector,5 we must redouble our 
efforts to reduce climate emissions from transportation and buildings through 
electrification of buildings and transportation, sustainable low- and zero-carbon 
transportation modes, and other efforts. With the upcoming budget processes, we have 
ample opportunity to take necessary next steps to reach our zero emissions goals.

The Energy Commission has identified the following priority items related to climate, 
buildings, and transportation in the City’s Fiscal Year (FY) 2023 budget to ensure that 
the budget aligns with the City’s adopted climate action plan and greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emission reduction goals. 

At least one of our priority budget recommendations – to fully fund the Building 
Electrification and Just Transition pilot – is urgent and time-sensitive and cannot wait 

1 In 2006, voters overwhelmingly passed ballot Measure G and established Berkeley’s goal to Reduce 
our entire community’s greenhouse gas emissions by 80% below 2000 levels by 2050. Since then, the 
City has adopted a Climate Action Plan (2009). 

On June 12, 2018, the Council passed item 30 which adopted a resolution establishing the goal of 
becoming a Fossil Fuel-Free City. Of the recommendations in the resolution, one was that “All future City 
government procurements of vehicles should minimize emissions and set a goal of transitioning the city’s 
vehicle fleet to all electric vehicles.”

Also, on June 12, 2018, the Council passed item 49 “Declaration of a Climate Emergency” which refers 
“to the Energy Commission to study and report back to Council on a path for Berkeley to become a 
“Carbon Sink” as quickly as possible, and to propose a deadline for Berkeley to achieve this goal” ideally 
by 2030.

2 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BESO/
3 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Existing%20Bldg%20Elect%20Strategy_Final_102021.pdf
4 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/Documents/2021-12-
14_Item_06_Minutes_for_Approval.aspx
5 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2022/02_Feb/Documents/2022-02-
08_Presentations_Item_17_Pres_Planning_pdf.aspx 

Page 2 of 12

18

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BESO/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Existing%20Bldg%20Elect%20Strategy_Final_102021.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Berkeley%20Existing%20Bldg%20Elect%20Strategy_Final_102021.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/Documents/2021-12-14_Item_06_Minutes_for_Approval.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/Documents/2021-12-14_Item_06_Minutes_for_Approval.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2022/02_Feb/Documents/2022-02-08_Presentations_Item_17_Pres_Planning_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2022/02_Feb/Documents/2022-02-08_Presentations_Item_17_Pres_Planning_pdf.aspx


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

until the June budget process. Any delay risks Berkeley losing access to substantial 
state funding that could support this pilot. 

At its meeting of February 23, 2022, the Energy Commission voted to send this 
recommendation to the City Council by a vote of 6-0-0-1 [Moved Tahara, Second 
Paulos. Ayes: Paulos, Wolf, Tahara, Moore, Guliasi, Zuckerman. Noes: None. Abstain: 
None. Absent: de Tournay Birkhahn].

Budget Priorities Recommended by the Energy Commission

I. Budget Priorities to Increase Staff Capacity to Implement the City’s Established 
Climate, Transportation, and Clean Energy Policies and Priorities

1. Fund and Hire Staff to Implement the Electric Mobility Roadmap. The City had 
previously approved the hiring of an Electric Mobility Coordinator within the Public 
Works Department6 to assist with implementation of the Berkeley Electric Mobility 
Roadmap adopted in July 20207; but, at the time of writing, no position has been 
posted, now a year and a half after approval of the Roadmap.

The Council has been a leader in adopting resolutions acknowledging the need for a 
prompt transition away from fossil fuels and strategies for how to do so.8 But, without 
additional staff capacity, and exacerbated by recent staff departures and necessary 
pandemic re-assignments, the City has not been able to make adequate progress on 
implementing initiatives to reduce global warming pollution from the transportation 
sector, which is the largest emitter of global warming pollution in Berkeley.9 Existing 
staff’s capacity is simply inadequate to lead implementation of the groundbreaking, 
transformative Roadmap in addition to their current responsibilities, and relying only 
on existing staff to implement will continue to cause unacceptable delays. To 
implement the Electric Mobility Roadmap, it is critical that the City fund and 
hire additional staff beginning in the FY 2023 budget.10

6 Budget Referral from Councilwoman Harrison, March 30, 2021. The Energy Commission’s 
understanding is that this position was included in the FY21-22 Budget to commence half-way through 
the fiscal year or as an “unfunded council referral,” which was supposed to be funded via savings from 
other cuts or delayed expenses. 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/Documents/2021-03-
30_Item_25_Budget_Referral_Allocate_Funding.aspx 
7  On July 21, 2020, the Council passed item 1, adopting the Berkeley Electric Mobility Roadmap.
8 Ibid.
9 59% of GHG emissions in Berkeley come from transportation, followed by 39% from buildings.. 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/
Documents/2020-07-21_Special_Item_05_Climate_Action_Plan_pdf.aspx (July 21, 2020).
10 This single staff person will have an outsized impact, as they will be responsible for establishing and 
coordinating the Electric Mobility Roadmap Implementation Working Group as called for in the Roadmap. 
This Working Group was supposed to be convened within six months of the Roadmap’s approval, but in 
the absence of staff capacity, it still has not been done. The Working Group’s mandate includes tracking 

Page 3 of 12

19

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/Documents/2021-03-30_Item_25_Budget_Referral_Allocate_Funding.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/03_Mar/Documents/2021-03-30_Item_25_Budget_Referral_Allocate_Funding.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/City%20of%20Berkeley%20Electric%20Mobility%20Roadmap_2020.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

2. Increase Staff Necessary to Implement the Berkeley Existing Buildings 
Electrification Strategy, and Ensure Durable Funding for Critical Staff 
Positions. In addition to the Electric Mobility Coordinator position, the Energy 
Commission believes it should also be a priority for the City to enhance staff 
capacity for implementing other climate and clean energy initiatives, such as, but not 
limited, to the Berkeley Existing Building Electrification Strategy11 and Climate Equity 
Action Fund.12 

City staff has and continues to do impressive work with limited staff. However, the 
scope of the task ahead of us is massive. As laid out by the BEBES, there are no 
fewer than 57 policy actions (Table 3-5, BEBES) that the City should take in order to 
decarbonize the building sector by 2045, let alone by 2030, which the science 
demands of comparatively wealthy municipalities such as ours. Many of these 
actions involve substantial education and regulatory initiatives, which can only be 
achieved with the addition of dedicated, skilled staff.

Although we defer to staff with respect to the specifics of what additional positions 
might be most useful, some critical actions include:

● Ensuring durable, long-term funding for the Green Buildings Program Manager. 
Although hiring has only recently begun, this role was approved as part of the 
2019 gas ban,13 and its extension will be critical in helping to develop future code 
amendments and help to reduce permitting overhead, improve compliance, and 
address the myriad other regulatory questions identified in the BEBES.

● Supporting and expanding staffing across the City for programs related to tenant 
protections and anti-displacement, such as those listed in Appendix C of the 
BEBES. As we electrify our existing building stock, we will need to evolve and 
augment our existing policies to protect marginalized communities at risk of 

and evaluating Roadmap implementation progress. Without the Working Group, there is no accountability 
for the City to deliver against its stated electric mobility plans.
11 On November 30, 2021, the Council passed item 13, adopting the Berkeley Existing Building 
Electrification Strategy. Phase 1 (2021-2025) actions for the Berkeley Existing Building Electrification 
Strategy will lay the groundwork to support wide-spread transition to electrified buildings in Berkeley. 
Policies included in Phase 1 will involve continued community engagement, pilot projects, education 
campaigns to demonstrate the benefits and feasibility of electrification, collaboration with labor and 
workforce organizations to advance inclusive high road jobs, alignment of existing programs and 
incentives, and the development of additional incentive programs as well as larger scale funding and 
financing programs such as tariffed on-bill financing. The City of Berkeley will work with partners such as 
East Bay Community Energy and Pacific Gas & Electric to develop larger scale Phase 2 projects. There 
will also be a need to collaborate with regional and State partners to align State policies to support Phase 
2 actions. (Berkeley Existing Building Electrification Strategy, p. 95.)
12 The City recently issued an RFP for the Climate Equity Action Fund. but existing staff do not have the 
capacity to maximize program impact and collect lessons learned from this innovative fund.
13 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/12_Dec/Documents/2019-12-
03_Supp_2_Reports_Item_24_Supp_Arreguin_pdf.aspx

Page 4 of 12

20

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Draft_Berkeley_Existing_Bldg_Electrification_Strategy_20210415.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Draft_Berkeley_Existing_Bldg_Electrification_Strategy_20210415.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Finance/Level_3_-_General/22-11488-C%20-%20CEF_RFP_20211129%20(1).pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/12_Dec/Documents/2019-12-03_Supp_2_Reports_Item_24_Supp_Arreguin_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/12_Dec/Documents/2019-12-03_Supp_2_Reports_Item_24_Supp_Arreguin_pdf.aspx


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

displacement (CC-9, BEBES). We cannot afford for these policies to lag behind 
the pace and scale of electrification measures in the city.

● Supporting and expanding OESD staff to facilitate updates to the 2009 Climate 
Action Plan as appropriate and programs to facilitate Berkeley's ambitious new 
greenhouse gas limit goals. For example, last year the Council passed a 
Resolution establishing a 2030 emission reduction target that reflects Berkeley’s 
fair share of the 50% global reduction in CO2e – 60.5% from 2018 levels by 
2030.14 Council is also actively considering more stringent and binding targets 
across its sector-based and consumption inventories. These new initiatives will 
have significant implications for the City’s approach to building decarbonization. 
While we fully support these ambitious targets, efforts to implement them have 
been largely unfunded and understaffed. Achieving these targets will require a 
significant expansion of the City's climate staff capacity.

II. Budget Priorities to Advance Clean Transportation in Berkeley

1. Fund City Fleet Electrification and Charging. On June 29, 2021, the City adopted 
item 25 approving the recommendations in the City Auditor’s report “Fleet 
Replacement Fund Short Millions”15, which directed staff to adjust the fleet 
replacement funding model and budget, ensuring that the City’s transition to electric 
vehicles (EVs) aligns with its adopted GHG emissions goals. On September 14, 
2021, the Council adopted the recommendation from item 27 “Recommendations for 
Fleet Electrification Policy and Financing”,16 made by the Energy Commission, which 
referred to the City Manager to update the Municipal Fleet Electrification 
Assessment and EV charging funding priorities to respond to the City Auditor’s 
Report and align with the objectives stated in the Electric Mobility Roadmap and 
prioritize municipal fleet modal shift to electric bicycles and other forms of zero-
emissions mobility where feasible. 

The Fleet EV Plan identified 32 vehicles to replace with EVs in FY 2021, requiring an 
estimated $1.16 million; but, as of June 2021, Public Works had only $747,000 to 
replace 29 vehicles scheduled to be replaced with EVs in FY 2021. The Energy 
Commission’s recommendation noted that delaying replacement of these vehicles in 
2021 would result in greater GHG emissions: 

14https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/11_Nov/Documents/2021-11-
30_Item_14_Cities_Race_to_Zero_Campaign__2030_emission_reduction_target.aspx
15 Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions, Berkeley City Auditor, June 29, 2021.
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/06_June/Documents/2021-06-
29_Supp_2_Reports_Item_25_Supp_Auditor_pdf.aspx.
16 Recommendations for Fleet Electrification Policy and Financing, From Energy Commission, Sept 14, 2021.  
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/09_Sep/City_Council__09-14-2021_-
_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx - Item 27 

Page 5 of 12

21

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/06_June/Documents/2021-06-29_Supp_2_Reports_Item_25_Supp_Auditor_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/06_June/Documents/2021-06-29_Supp_2_Reports_Item_25_Supp_Auditor_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/09_Sep/Documents/2021-09-14_Item_27_Recommendations_for_Fleet_Electrification.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/09_Sep/City_Council__09-14-2021_-_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/09_Sep/City_Council__09-14-2021_-_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

“For example, per the Fleet EV Plan, if the City does not replace light-duty 
internal combustion cars with EVs as scheduled in 2021, it will produce an 
estimated additional 10.6 MT of GHG emissions in 2021; if not replaced as 
planned in 2022 an additional 19.5 MT of GHGs would be emitted in 2022; and 
so on.” (page 4).

It is the Energy Commission’s understanding that East Bay Community Energy 
(EBCE) has offered to provide substantial investments in the City of Berkeley for EV 
charging infrastructure, which would support progress on the City’s fleet 
electrification and free up City funds that would otherwise have been spent on EV 
charging infrastructure. The Energy Commission urges the Council to resolve the 
budget gaps identified in the Auditor’s report and explore additional funding sources 
so that the City can accelerate its purchases of EVs and the associated EV charging 
infrastructure in FY 2023.

A global microchip shortage resulting in prolonged supply chain delays and long wait 
times for the delivery of EVs is compounding the necessity for the City to take 
immediate action on fleet replacement. These delays are being exacerbated by the 
recent surge in demand for EVs. As more municipalities similarly pass electrification 
plans, Berkeley will see increasing competition for the same vehicles. The City must 
thus plan and order ahead if it wants to have a smooth fleet transition. The City 
should also commence its purchase of e-bikes for the years ahead, as replacements 
to existing City vehicles where appropriate. E-bikes are both highly cost effective 
and may not face the same supply chain delays as electric cars and trucks. The 
Energy Commission recommends that the Council prioritize these municipal fleet EV 
replacements, along with the associated EV charging infrastructure, in the FY 2023 
budget.

2. Expand Infrastructure for Residential EV Charging and E-Bike Parking. The 
City should prioritize funds to address solutions for residential curbside EV charging. 
The City’s Residential Curbside EV Charging Pilot Program17 sunset in 2020. The 
development model the pilot used – private ownership of a charger on the side of a 
public street – was not successful. While 62 residents applied for the program, only 
four on-site and seven curbside chargers were installed - high permitting fees, 
restrictive engineering requirements, lack of control of the parking space adjacent to 
the charger, and poor access to electrical supply resulted in high costs.18 Given the 
number of Berkeley residents who do not have access to a driveway or garage, the 
Electric Mobility Roadmap identified as a high priority the need to deploy curbside 
charging for electric cars, particularly in neighborhoods with high rates of multifamily 

17 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Manual%20with%20attachments%2012-1-14.pdf
18 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/02_Feb/Documents/2018-02-
27_Item_16_Residential_Curbside_Electric.aspx 

Page 6 of 12

22

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Manual%20with%20attachments%2012-1-14.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Energy_and_Sustainable_Development/Manual%20with%20attachments%2012-1-14.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/02_Feb/Documents/2018-02-27_Item_16_Residential_Curbside_Electric.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/02_Feb/Documents/2018-02-27_Item_16_Residential_Curbside_Electric.aspx


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

and rental housing. The next phase of curbside charging will incorporate lessons 
learned from the Pilot, investigate alternative strategies, identify state and federal 
funding sources, and explore partnerships with EBCE and EV charging companies.

The City should also investigate the potential to provide public secure parking for 
other types of fossil fuel-free vehicles, namely e-bikes and cargo bikes, for 
apartment dwellers. E-bikes and cargo bikes tend to be larger and heavier than 
regular bicycles, making them difficult to carry up steps. A paid, public parking 
system, such as the BikeLink lockers at BART stations, may be adapted to street 
parking near apartment buildings.

The Council should allocate funds in the budget for an electric mobility staff person 
who would oversee new projects — research other cities’ approaches, evaluate 
Berkeley's codes, standards, and permitting processes, and conduct feasibility 
studies — along with funds for the pilot projects themselves.

3. Incorporate Low-Carbon Mobility into Street Maintenance Budget.  While 
Council is considering a bond measure that would make capital investments in our 
transportation system, the City should also revisit how the maintenance budget can 
be used to promote low-carbon mobility.

The Council has approved multiple plans to promote safe, equitable, and low-carbon 
mobility for all. These “complete streets” concepts are captured in the Bicycle Plan, 
Pedestrian Plan, Vision Zero Action Plan, and analysis of Safe Routes to School.19 
But many of the measures in these plans have been implemented slowly, if at all. 
The Council should direct the Public Works Department to follow these plans to the 
letter, and integrate all low-cost and rapidly deployable concepts from the plans into 
their ongoing maintenance. The timing of deploying higher cost measures may 
necessarily depend on funding.20

On January 18, 2022, the Council adopted item 19, referring a budget item to use 
Transportation Network Company (TNC) User Tax General Fund revenue to build 
and maintain protected bicycle lanes and crossings, pedestrian street crossings, and 

19  See Bicycle Plan, Pedestrian Plan, Vision Zero Action Plan, Safe Routes to School.
20 A related concept is that the Council should consider giving a more formal policy status to Bicycle 
Boulevards. While the Boulevards serve as a useful wayfinding tool for cyclists, their designation does not 
give the streets a meaningful status, and no prioritization when it comes to City planning or operations. 
For example, places where Bicycle Boulevards cross busy streets, such as at California/Dwight or 
Channing/San Pablo, face years of delay before safe crossing solutions can be implemented. Numerous 
Bicycle Boulevards suffer from extremely poor pavement condition. Stop signs often favor cars instead of 
the Boulevards, and lighting can often be sub-standard. All of these factors undermine achievement of 
City plans, threaten public safety, and lock in carbon pollution. Direction from the Council to staff could 
take the form of a formal designation of the Boulevards as a category of street, just as Public Works 
delineates “arterials” and “collectors” when it comes to planning and operations.

Page 7 of 12

23

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/berkeleybikeplan/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/pedestrian/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/visionzero.aspx
https://alamedacountysr2s.org/our-program/school-safety-assessments/#berkeley


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

quick-build public transit projects under the Street Repair Program. The Energy 
Commission recommends that the Council follow through on its plan to use this 
revenue to benefit transportation projects in Berkeley.

III. Budget Priorities and Financial Incentives to Advance Building 
Decarbonization in Berkeley

1. Fully Fund the Building Electrification and Just Transition Pilot Project. In the 
December 2021 Annual Adjustment Ordinance (AAO) budget process, the Mayor 
declared, and the Council approved, that the Building Electrification and Just 
Transition pilot (“the pilot”)21 be a first priority to be funded in the May 2022 AAO.22 
Consistent with the City’s “targeted universalism” approach to building 
electrification,23 the pilot intends to kick-start electrification among affordable housing 
and low income (LMI) communities through incentives, and develop high-road jobs 
through labor standards and contractor prequalification. 

Funding for this item in the May AAO is critical, and cannot wait until the June 
budget process. Any delay risks losing access to substantial state funding that 
could multiply the reach and impact of the pilot. The California TECH initiative, an 
$120 million initiative established by SB 1477, recently began offering incentives for 
heat pump space and water heating that can defray nearly $10,000 of cost per 
home,24 including the cost of an electric panel upgrade. These incentives are 
accessible to contractors via the BayREN Home+ programs, which will simplify 
administration of the pilot due to its use of pre-qualified contractors.

There is additional urgency as well. The Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
(BAAQMD) is looking at phasing out the sale of NOx-emitting appliances by the end 
of the decade,25 which will significantly affect the availability of non-electric space 
and water heating. However, BAAQMD recognizes that such a rule can only be 
effective if there is sufficient financial support for disadvantaged communities and a 
robust installer network (things the BEBES also calls out) so that everyone can reap 
the benefits of zero-pollution appliances without facing substantial costs. These 
costs cannot be borne by cities alone, but Berkeley can lay the groundwork to 

21 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/11_Nov/City_Council__11-30-2021_-
_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
22 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/Documents/2021-12-
14_Supp_2_Reports_Item_44_Supp_Mayor_pdf.aspx
23 According to the BEBES: “Targeted Universalism is the practice of setting a universal policy goal...while identifying 
targeted strategies and actions specifically for marginalized communities to ensure that those communities can 
benefit from the policy goal.”
24 For single-family homes (up to 4 units), including “enhanced” incentives for HPWH. See: https://energy-
solution.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/TECH-Single-and-Multifamily-Incentives.pdf
25 https://www.baaqmd.gov/rules-and-compliance/rule-development/building-appliances 

Page 8 of 12

24

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/11_Nov/City_Council__11-30-2021_-_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/11_Nov/City_Council__11-30-2021_-_Regular_Meeting_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/Documents/2021-12-14_Supp_2_Reports_Item_44_Supp_Mayor_pdf.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/12_Dec/Documents/2021-12-14_Supp_2_Reports_Item_44_Supp_Mayor_pdf.aspx
https://energy-solution.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/TECH-Single-and-Multifamily-Incentives.pdf
https://energy-solution.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/TECH-Single-and-Multifamily-Incentives.pdf
https://www.baaqmd.gov/rules-and-compliance/rule-development/building-appliances


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

leverage state and federal money with its pilot and thus significantly 
contribute to the regional effort to improve air quality and GHG emissions.

2. Use Transfer Tax Revenues to Provide Incentives for Electrification. With 
soaring home prices, the transfer tax represents a durable source of funds that the 
City should leverage to accelerate our building electrification goals. There are two 
potential models to consider.

First, would be to model a rebate program after the Seismic Retrofit Refund 
Program26 that would rebate a percentage of the transfer tax with a value up to the 
cost of a typical electrification package for electrification measures completed within 
one year of transfer. This would incentivize electrification at a time when there is 
large access to capital, and could lay the groundwork for an ultimate requirement to 
retrofit at time of sale. OESD staff have already provided Council with a draft 
ordinance and indicate that each year on average 800 units would qualify through 
this mechanism.27 

The Energy Commission recommends that Council move forward with this ordinance 
but with a cap on the amount of eligible homeowner rebates per year. These rebates 
are critical to the City’s long-term strategy of phasing in potential electrification 
mandates as feasible. 

At the same time, as a diverse and majority renter city, it is critical that electrification 
subsidies are also available for units occupied by rent controlled or below market 
rate tenants. As a second model option, a percentage of the transfer tax refund 
program (for example, the difference between the reserved and actual rebate 
amounts) might be simultaneously allocated to expand electrification work among 
those LMI and minority communities most affected by inequality, pollution, climate 
change, or at risk of displacement. This could come in the form of expanding the 
Building Electrification and Just Transition pilot and Climate Equity Fund to reach 
more households, or other incentive programs targeted at those same communities.

3. Adopt Policies to Promote Implementation of Low-cost, Partial Electrification 
measures. In addition to enacting full retrofit programs, we recommend that the 
Council consider low-cost, partial electrification measures to maximize the 
immediate climate and health impacts of electrification measures. For example, a 
requirement that any AC installation instead be a heat pump (TR-7, BEBES) could 
be coupled with a subsidy for LMI communities to pay for the cost difference 
between an AC and an equivalent heat pump model, which is estimated to be 

26 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Finance/Home/Real_Property__Transfer_Tax_Seismic_Refunds.aspx 
27 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/07_Jul/Documents/2020-07-
21_Special_Item_03_Referral_Response_Ordinance_pdf.aspx

Page 9 of 12

25

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Finance/Home/Real_Property__Transfer_Tax_Seismic_Refunds.aspx


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

between just $200 and $500 wholesale.28 An installer subsidy of $676 alone could 
be enough to nearly double heat pump market share even absent a mandate29. 
Other low-cost measures might include the purchasing and distribution of portable 
heat pumps to provide cooling to households on our increasing number of hot days 
(newer inverter models offer substantial energy savings over traditional portable 
ACs30), portable induction units as both a gateway into electric cooking and a 
mechanism to reduce indoor NOx pollution that has been demonstrated to cause 
asthma in small children,31 as well as weatherization work to make homes safer, 
more comfortable, and to reduce energy use. Council might also consider rebates 
for electrification at time of replacement, or provide access to equipment purchased 
under bulk purchasing agreements as part of the Building Electrification and Just 
Transition pilot program.

IV. Budget Priorities to Educate and Engage Berkeley Residents in Implementing 
Transportation and Building Electrification

1. Expand Sustainability Outreach Events. In conjunction with implementation of the 
Electric Mobility Roadmap and Existing Building Electrification Strategy, it is 
appropriate for the City to continue and expand public engagement on alternative 
transportation and green building solutions.

Increasing electric mobility awareness and education is a key strategy in the Electric 
Mobility Roadmap for achieving the City’s zero net carbon goals. Berkeley has 
already organized four highly successful annual Ride Electric events, which brought 
the public together to learn about and, in certain cases, test drive EVs and e-bikes. 
The City has also partnered successfully with other local groups to organize in-
person and virtual green building tours that feature clean energy, energy and water 
conservation, gray water, electric appliances, and garden features.

As technologies and incentives evolve, more members of the public consider 
adopting electric mobility and building electrification technologies, and as the City 
increases its e-mobility expertise through additional staffing, these events can and 
should continue to play an important role in getting Berkeley residents to transition 
away from fossil fuels. The Roadmap states that the City will expand electric mobility 
education and outreach activities, with a goal of increasing awareness of electric 
mobility options and incentives.32 To deliver on this commitment, the City must 
allocate funds for these events in its next budget.

28 https://www.clasp.ngo/research/all/3h-hybrid-heat-homes-an-incentive-program-to-electrify-space-heating-and-
reduce-energy-bills-in-american-homes/
29 ibid
30 https://www.midea.com/us/air-conditioners/portable-air-conditioners/midea-duo-smart-inverter-portable-air-
conditioner-map12s1tbl 
31 https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/isa/recordisplay.cfm?deid=310879 
32 Berkeley Electric Mobility Roadmap, p. 43.

Page 10 of 12

26

https://www.clasp.ngo/research/all/3h-hybrid-heat-homes-an-incentive-program-to-electrify-space-heating-and-reduce-energy-bills-in-american-homes/
https://www.clasp.ngo/research/all/3h-hybrid-heat-homes-an-incentive-program-to-electrify-space-heating-and-reduce-energy-bills-in-american-homes/
https://www.midea.com/us/air-conditioners/portable-air-conditioners/midea-duo-smart-inverter-portable-air-conditioner-map12s1tbl
https://www.midea.com/us/air-conditioners/portable-air-conditioners/midea-duo-smart-inverter-portable-air-conditioner-map12s1tbl
https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/isa/recordisplay.cfm?deid=310879


  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

With its recent adoption of the Existing Building Electrification Strategy, the Council 
must expand funding for sustainability outreach events to also address needs 
identified in the Strategy. For example, the Strategy identified a need for education 
to address the steep learning curve and cultural sensitivity around cooking with 
electric stoves, as cooking is a cultural asset and many feel strongly about cooking 
with gas stoves.33 While the City has hosted building electrification events, including 
loan programs for residents to try out electric induction cooktops, it will need to do 
more to engage residents in adopting electric heat pumps, induction stoves, and 
other technologies.

BACKGROUND
The City has existing mandated climate goals and emissions reductions commitments, 
and already-adopted strategies, such as the Electric Mobility Roadmap and the Existing 
Buildings Electrification Strategy. Furthermore, the City has already approved certain 
staff positions and investments, such as an Electric Mobility Coordinator position and 
commitments to replace the City’s vehicle fleet with electric vehicles on a schedule. The 
City is falling behind in hiring and filling needed positions and in executing on needed 
investments. The budget recommendations proposed by the Energy Commission in this 
memo seek to ensure the City stays on track to meet its goals.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
If the Council further delays investments or doesn’t include our recommended priorities 
in the upcoming budget, it puts at risk the health and safety of Berkeley’s residents, the 
City’s achievement of its adopted and mandated climate, clean energy, and 
transportation goals, and its national and global leadership on addressing climate 
change in innovative ways. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The Energy Commission commends the Council for its many years of leadership to 
reduce Berkeley’s global warming pollution and to advance clean energy solutions for 
the transportation and building sectors. Our budget is a declaration of our values. We 
have a tremendous opportunity to accelerate building decarbonization while improving 
equity through targeted universalism, and we must seize the moment to secure a safer, 
healthier, more resilient future.

However, if the Council further delays investments in staffing, fleet electrification and 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure, building maintenance and retrofits, and public 
education in the FYE 2023 and 2024 budget, it puts at risk the health and safety of 
Berkeley’s residents, the City’s achievement of its adopted and mandated climate, clean 
energy, and transportation goals, and its national and global leadership on addressing 

33 Berkeley Existing Building Electrification Strategy, p. 42.

Page 11 of 12

27



  
Energy Commission Recommendation FYE 23 and 24 Budget Priorities       Consent Calendar

April 26, 2022

climate change in innovative ways. The Energy Commission thus urges the City Council 
to incorporate the above stated priorities into its FYE 2023 and 2024 budget.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
We did not consider excluding these items from the budget. 

CITY MANAGER
The City Manager recommends that the content and recommendations of the 
Commission’s Report be referred to the budget process.

CONTACT PERSON
Billi Romain, Energy Commission Secretary, 510-981-7432

Page 12 of 12

28



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, Floor 5, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7130 ● E-Mail: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
1

CONSENT CALENDAR
May 24, 2022

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmember Ben Bartlett (Author), Councilmember Rigel Robinson, 
Kate Harrison, and Terry Taplin (Co-Sponsors)

Subject: Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council 
Office Staff Expenditures

 
RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the Budget and Finance Committee to consider updates to the guidelines and 
procedures for City Council office budget expenditure accounts with regards to City 
Council staff salaries and fringe benefits expenditures and an accompanying Budget 
Referral of approximately $1,226,619.52 for the FY 22-23 June Budget process.

CURRENT SITUATION
As of March of 2022, four of eight Council Offices retain more than one Legislative 
Assistant, while the Mayor retains four Legislative Assistants in addition to a Chief of 
Staff. This reflects the trend over the last two decades of an increase in demand faced 
by Council Offices for constituent services and legislative policy output. Despite this 
increase, Council budget policy still assumes a staff level fixed at one Legislative 
Assistant per Council Office, though recent adjustments provide for budgeting the 
Mayor’s Office at actual staff costs.

The most recent adjustment to Council staff budgeting policy was made in response to 
the 2019 unionization of Legislative Assistants with the SEIU 1021 Community Services 
& Part-Time Recreation Leaders Association Chapter. The City officially ratified a 
contract with the new unit on June 15, 2021 that, among other things, provided an 
increased hourly wage for Legislative Assistants more closely commensurate with 
internal comparators as determined by a 2006 report from the City Manager, and placed 
Legislative Assistants on a salary schedule based on annual steps like other unionized 
positions in the City. After the adoption of the contract, Resolution No. 65.540-N.S. 
which provided for and regulated Council Office budgets was replaced by Resolution 
No. 70,054–N.S. This new Resolution adjusted Council budgets to allow for one full-
time Legislative Assistant per office under the new agreement but did not account for 
the reality that half of Council Offices currently have had more than one Legislative 
Assistant. Because the new contract provides for annual step increases, Council Offices 
which now use their staff funds to retain two part time Legislative Assistants will be 
forced to reduce hours or terminate staff as they progress through annual steps.

BACKGROUND

Page 1 of 6

29

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
arichardson
Typewritten Text
05



Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council Office Staff Expenditures

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, Floor 5, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7130 ● E-Mail: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
2

The Berkeley City Council and the people of Berkeley take great pride in their extremely 
active, engaged, and forward thinking legislative branch. This is directly tied to the 
expectations of Berkeley’s residents, who have through their votes on ballot measures 
and their vocal advocacy demanded this level of activity. Additionally, this demand has 
risen over time. The population of Berkeley has increased by more than 20,000 since 
2000, and interest in critical legislative issues including affordable housing, climate 
change, homelessness, transit, and public safety reimagining has increased 
substantially. Simultaneously, the City’s budget and the total number of employees have 
steadily increased. The Council provides legislative output, municipal oversight, and 
constituent services that are more comparable to neighboring cities and counties with 
substantially larger populations and budgets than Berkeley. The Council’s legislative 
assistants are key to providing these services. Legislative Assistants aid with the 
management of a Councilmember’s policy initiatives and district projects, write 
legislation, provide administrative office support, research and analyze policy and 
legislation, guide constituents in accessing critical public and nonprofit assistance, and 
may be called upon to represent their Councilmember before constituents, community 
groups, business interests, city staff and other elected officials.

Until recently, the Mayor, Councilmembers, and their aides have been significantly 
underpaid as compared to external and internal comparators. 

In 2020, the adoption of Measure JJ by nearly two thirds of Berkeley voters1 affirmed 
that residents have high expectations of their local government and that the work 
required to deliver on those expectations should be compensated fairly and accurately. 
Measure JJ changed the status of City Councilmembers from part-time to full-time to 
reflect the increased demands of the position from when it was first created, and 
increased the salary for Councilmember and the Mayor to one sufficient for working 
class residents to be able to afford to run for office.2

Alongside the trend of increased demand on Council Offices for legislative and 
constituent services, the inauguration of the Council Policy Committee system in 20183,4 
and the transition to full time Council positions in 2020 have both driven an increase in 
the workload for legislative staff. Half of Council Offices now maintain more than one 
Legislative Assistant, reflecting that the volume of legislative work per Council Office 
often exceeds 40 hours of labor per week. There are currently six Council Policy 
Committees, four interagency committees, and a varying number of Mayoral task 

1 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Summary%20Results%20Nov.%202020.pdf
, pg. 3
2 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/2020%20Ballot%20Measures.pdf, pg. 33
3https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/2018-12-
11_Item_C_Structure_for_City_Council_-_Supp.aspx
4https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/12-
11_Annotated_Agenda.aspx

Page 2 of 6

30

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Summary%20Results%20Nov.%202020.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/2020%20Ballot%20Measures.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/2018-12-11_Item_C_Structure_for_City_Council_-_Supp.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/2018-12-11_Item_C_Structure_for_City_Council_-_Supp.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/12-11_Annotated_Agenda.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/12-11_Annotated_Agenda.aspx


Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council Office Staff Expenditures

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, Floor 5, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7130 ● E-Mail: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
3

forces.5 Many Councilmembers also sit on regional boards, commissions, working 
groups and task forces, including, for example, the Association of Bay Area 
Governments Executive Board, Alameda County Transportation Commission, and the 
East Bay Community Energy Board of Directors among numerous others. 

These committees and other bodies provide vital legislative functions, but also add 
significant workload in both staffing and preparing for these meetings each week. In 
addition to two regular meetings a month, Policy Committees have additional special 
meetings scheduled on an ad hoc basis, especially during the bi-annual budget 
processes, and additional work conducted by the staff, especially when a 
Councilmember chairs a Committee. Critically, committee members are now 
responsible for writing more detailed and comprehensive legislative briefs and memos 
as well as shepherding amended legislative matters referred from Commissions and 
other bodies. Due to the enhanced demand for legislative work, full and part-time 
Legislative Assistants regularly work hours substantially beyond their scheduled 
appointment.

Over the past two decades, Council has attempted to address Legislative Assistant 
compensation, resulting in incremental improvement. 

In 2006, in recognition of Legislative Assistant salary and classification disparities, the 
Council passed Resolution No. 63,259-N.S. directing the City Manager to conduct a 
salary equity study for the City Council Legislative Assistants and report the findings to 
the Council to include “a comparison with their peers in neighboring jurisdictions…[and] 
the salary range, qualifications and responsibilities for this job class.”6

The resulting 2006 study7 from the City Manager found that Legislative Assistants were 
significantly underpaid as compared to external and internal comparators—namely the 
Assistant Management Analyst in the City Manager’s office. The City Manager 
recommended an increase to Council office salary budgets, at the time $44,433 
excluding benefits, to the minimum salary level of an Assistant Management Analyst 
(AMA), which would have increased the annual salary allocation by approximately 
$10,248 per Council office. In 2015, nearly a decade after the City Manager’s study was 
submitted to Council, the Mayor and Council voted to implement the 2006 Study 
recommendation and also acknowledged certain structural deficiencies including that 
Council Offices had to pull from their discretionary budgets “intended for office supplies 
and other office-related costs” in order to sufficiently fund staff costs.8 Council ultimately 
referred an additional $80,000 total to be split between the 8 Council offices. This 

5https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/City_Council__Committee_and_Regional_Body_Appo
intees.aspx
6https://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil/agenda-committee/2006/packet/041006/2006-04-
18%20Draft%20Item%2019%20MOORE%20-%20Salary%20Equity.pdf
7https://www.cityofberkeley.info/recordsonline/api/Document/AQwW5T053smoW4FSgoqqfPzrtx2b5Xydz2
Wp12sEq9AYYtJ0JDbJ32ymekuaq6i5xy%C3%89%C3%81I7rVEBYmrBFWpzKvwec%3D/
8https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/03_Mar/Documents/2015-03-
10_Item_10_Refer_$80,000.aspx

Page 3 of 6

31

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/City_Council__Committee_and_Regional_Body_Appointees.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/City_Council__Committee_and_Regional_Body_Appointees.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil/agenda-committee/2006/packet/041006/2006-04-18%20Draft%20Item%2019%20MOORE%20-%20Salary%20Equity.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/citycouncil/agenda-committee/2006/packet/041006/2006-04-18%20Draft%20Item%2019%20MOORE%20-%20Salary%20Equity.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/recordsonline/api/Document/AQwW5T053smoW4FSgoqqfPzrtx2b5Xydz2Wp12sEq9AYYtJ0JDbJ32ymekuaq6i5xy%C3%89%C3%81I7rVEBYmrBFWpzKvwec=/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/recordsonline/api/Document/AQwW5T053smoW4FSgoqqfPzrtx2b5Xydz2Wp12sEq9AYYtJ0JDbJ32ymekuaq6i5xy%C3%89%C3%81I7rVEBYmrBFWpzKvwec=/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/03_Mar/Documents/2015-03-10_Item_10_Refer_$80,000.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/03_Mar/Documents/2015-03-10_Item_10_Refer_$80,000.aspx


Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council Office Staff Expenditures

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, Floor 5, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7130 ● E-Mail: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
4

increased staff capacity but only to the bottom end of the AMA classification range for 
one position.

In 2019, the Legislative Assistants across Council and Mayoral offices unionized as part 
of the SEIU 1021 Community Services & Part-Time Recreation Leaders Association. 
The contract approved in June 20219 provided for a wage step range roughly 
commensurate with the AMA classification. As part of that range, Legislative Assistants 
now receive annual pay increases along the established range like other City 
employees. In order to effectuate the new labor agreement, Council modified the 
guidelines that regulate Council Office budgets, replacing Resolution No. 65.540-N.S. 
with Resolution No. 70,054–N.S.10

While the wage floor for Legislative Assistants has increased under the contract, historic 
budget deficiencies persist. Indeed, the current budget policy artificially constrains 
certain Council appointments to less than full-time appointments in cases where two 
Legislative Assistants are needed. As a result, offices with multiple Legislative 
Assistants have to ration one full-time salary between two people, a fraught situation 
that create awkward and precarious work schedules, inequitable compensation, 
burnout, high turnover, less diverse staff, less thorough legislative and constituent 
services, and the siphoning of office funds intended for supplies and other office-related 
costs. In addition, since the Legislative Assistant contract now provides for yearly step 
increases pursuant to favorable performance reviews like most other City positions, the 
Mayor and Council offices with multiple Legislative Assistants will quickly overshoot 
their budgets, which were designed for only one Legislative Assistant per office.

Adequately and equitably funding these positions is key to meeting the City’s Strategic 
Plan goal of attracting and retaining a talented and diverse City government workforce.
The two alternatives considered would address these shortcomings and respond to the 
change in legislative conditions by providing offices that wish to hire two full-time 
Legislative Assistants the opportunity to do so.

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED
Maintaining the status quo would result in those Council Offices which retain more than 
one Legislative Assistant encountering structural budget deficits within one to three 
years. For example, an Office budgeted at the FY 2023 rate of $109,539 for staff 
salaries with two staff, one for 30 hours a week and one for 20, would have a 
$12,224.89 surplus in their salaries fund. The surplus would drop annually, to $7,370.43 
in the second year and $2,239.85 in the third, and finally become negative in the fourth 
year at -$3,111.47. In this scenario, Offices will be forced to cut hours or lay off staff. 
Though this can be remediated by reallocating non-personnel funds towards staff costs, 

9https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/06_June/Documents/06-
01_AC_Time_Critical_Item_Leg_Assistants_MOU.aspx
10https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/10_Oct/Documents/2021-10-
12_Item_06_Council_Office_Expense_Account.aspx

Page 4 of 6

32

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/06_June/Documents/06-01_AC_Time_Critical_Item_Leg_Assistants_MOU.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/06_June/Documents/06-01_AC_Time_Critical_Item_Leg_Assistants_MOU.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/10_Oct/Documents/2021-10-12_Item_06_Council_Office_Expense_Account.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2021/10_Oct/Documents/2021-10-12_Item_06_Council_Office_Expense_Account.aspx


Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council Office Staff Expenditures

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, Floor 5, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7130 ● E-Mail: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
5

doing so would delay but not prevent structural issues in most circumstances and 
results in other challenges and inequities associated with insufficient office funds.

The Budget and Finance Committee should instead consider pooling individual Council 
Staff Office Budgets together into a single Council Office Staff Budget, and fund it 
sufficient for each Office to hire two FTEs. This would raise funding to a level reflective 
of the demonstrated demand for Legislative Assistant work and stabilize those Offices 
with multiple Legislative Assistants, while simultaneously enabling budgeting practices 
and cost savings not practical with individual Council Staff Office Budgets. In this 
scenario each Council Office would be able to draw funding for up to 2 FTEs or their 
equivalent from the fund, with the precise dollar amount fluctuating from Office to Office 
based on the tenure of an Office’s staff and the breakdown of fulltime and part-time 
positions.

The primary advantage of a pooled approach is in allowing more accurate budgeting 
practices. Normally, variation in seniority and temporary vacancies within a department 
create a high probability of actual costs falling close to the middle of the step range per 
budgeted position. It is therefore more accurate to budget staff costs at that median 
range, which frees some money for other priorities. The small size of each Council 
Office Staff Budget prevents this, instead requiring that they be budgeted at the top of 
the range. A pooled budget for 16 FTEs would likely be large enough to budget at the 
middle, allowing for more accurate budgeting and possible relocation of resources.

A pooled fund would allow for budgeting practices more reflective of the City’s policies 
for other departments. The Budget and Finance Committee should consider what 
additional restrictions and policies should govern use of the fund. These should include 
a restriction on initial step placements for new hires at the first four steps of the 
Legislative Assistant salary range, and a requirement that the 80 hours available to 
each department be split between no more than three individual staff members. These 
restrictions are important for maintaining the stability of the fund while allowing for the 
hiring discretion necessary of political positions. While these limits would place some 
restrictions on Councilmembers, they would retain their ability to supplement their 
allocation from the fund with expenditures from their non-personnel budget.

This pooled approach is a significant change from current practices and will require 
input and guidance from Budget staff to create and implement. Additionally, it could 
allow one Council Office to draw significantly more or less from the pool than others, 
though this would reflect variation in funding but not actual staff resources. For example, 
an office with two new staff at the first step would pull more from the fund than an office 
with staff both at the final step, though each Office would still only be receiving the 
benefit of 2 FTEs.

A second alternative to address this issue would be to simply increase the amount 
allocated per council office from one FTE to two. While this would achieve short term 
stabilization of Council Staff Office Budgets and be simpler and easier to implement 

Page 5 of 6

33

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info


Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines and Procedures for City Council Office Staff Expenditures

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, Floor 5, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7130 ● E-Mail: bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info
6

than the pooled approach, it would not achieve long-term stabilization and cost control 
features.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The current baseline allocation for each Council Office Staff budget for FY 2023 is 
approximately $187,663. This includes $109,539 for salary and $78,124 for fringe 
benefits, the largest share of which is health insurance costs. This totals $1,501,305 
across the eight Council Offices, not accounting for additional voluntary contributions 
from Councilmembers’ own salaries.

Pooling the Council Office Staff Budgets and budgeting at the median of the step range 
would cost approximately $2,727,925 in total. This would be $1,226,620 more than 
current spending but $274,686 less than the prior alternative.

Individually allocating each Council Office Staff Budget funding for two FTEs would 
increase costs to $375,326 per Office or $3,002,612 total, representing an increased 
allocation of $1,501,305.

It is important to consider that these numbers represent allocations and not actual 
expenditures. Adopting a prohibition on the rollover of surplus funds budgeted for 
salaries alongside the current prohibition for fringe benefits could reduce the actual cost 
of the individual proposal.

Finally, these cost estimates are based on projections for salary costs given scheduled 
raises per already agreed labor contracts for FY 2023, but assume FY 2022 allocations 
for fringe benefits. This may slightly underestimate the cost for both the status quo and 
the first alternative, and significantly overestimate cost for the pooled alternative. Some 
fringe benefits, like healthcare, are unrelated to the salary of the position, while some 
rise with compensation. While the pooled approach budgets salaries at the median of 
the range, it assumes the full cost of 16 positions regardless of step for fringe benefits. 
Additional information from staff concerning the breakdown and calculation of fringe 
benefits cost would help to refine these figures.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
No discernible impact. 

CONTACT
Councilmember Ben Bartlett 510-981-7130
James Chang 510-981-7131

Page 6 of 6

34

mailto:bbartlett@cityofberkeley.info


  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

ACTION CALENDAR
April 26, 2022

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance

Subject: Accept the Risk Analysis for Long-Term Debt (Bonding Capacity) Report 
provided by Government Finance Officers Association

RECOMMENDATION
Accept the report titled ‘Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of Long-Term Debt 
Affordability’ as provided by the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA). This 
report is based on their research and development of a risk-modeling tool to address 
issuing long-term debt related to City of Berkeley Vision 2050.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
There are no fiscal impacts of accepting the report

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of Long-Term Debt Affordability (Bonding 
Capacity) report is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, advancing our goal to:

 Provide an efficient and financially-healthy City government

The City engaged GFOA to conduct this analysis of the City’s bonding capacity through 
their risk-modeling approach. This analysis will support the City’s later development of a 
thirty-year borrowing plan, which will enable the City to replace its aging infrastructure 
assets, maintain its General Obligation Bond rating at AA+ at S & P Global and Aa1 at 
Moody’s, and keep the bond property tax rate at an affordable level (which was .0540% 
at June 30, 2020). The GFOA’s risk model and report look at a comprehensive financial 
analysis with particular focus on options to maintain the City’s debt affordability within the 
framework of the City’s huge unfunded pensions and other post-employment benefits 
(OPEB) and overall City operations. 

The study and report are intended to help develop recommendations for a combination 
of infrastructure-focused revenue measures slated for November 2022 and beyond.

Page 1 of 28

35

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager
arichardson
Typewritten Text
06



  
Risk Analysis and Stress Test for Long-Term Debt Issuance ACTION CALENDAR

April 26, 2022

The context provided for GFOA to build the risk model and draft the subsequent report 
was framed through initially providing these items to GFOA:

1. Vision 2050
2. Unfunded Liabilities Report
3. Capital Improvement Plan in the most recent biennial budget and five-year 

planning horizon
4. Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports (ACFR)
5. GO Bonds, Revenue Bonds, and Certificates of Participation Debt Repayment 

Schedules
6. Current Bond Authority and Outstanding Amounts (GO Bonds for the past 20 years 

as of 7/12/21)
7. City’s Debt Policy
8. S and P Global Ratings Letter Re: GO Bonds
9. S and P Global Ratings Letter Re: Lease Revenue Bonds
10.Analysis of City’s Debt and Contingent Liability Profile
11.GO Rating Report – April 2021
12.GO Rating Report – February 2020

The GFOA report details these and additional factors that GFOA researched and 
incorporated into their construction of the risk model and their drafting of the final report.

BACKGROUND
The City has an extensive portfolio of capital assets and infrastructure, including 95 public 
buildings; 254 miles of public sanitary sewer mains and 130 miles of public sewer laterals; 
52 parks, two pools; three camps; and 42 different facilities served by the City’s IT 
systems. Maintaining these assets is costly and requires significant resources and 
constant attention.  As an older city, 50% of Berkeley’s $837 million of capital assets have 
exceeded their useful life.

The City’s FY 2021 Capital Plan called for spending of $57 million/year on capital and 
maintenance needs. Even at this increased level of funding, Berkeley’s infrastructure will 
deteriorate faster than it is being repaired and replaced, and construction cost escalation 
at four (4) percent/year will significantly increase replacement costs.

To modernize these old physical structures with resilient, durable, and climate-smart 
infrastructure will require substantial new investments.  To adequately address the $882 
million in unfunded infrastructure liabilities, the City needs to double its annual capital 
spending over the next decade to $80 million/year. Capital expenditures are typically 
funded through a combination of debt financing (pay-as-you-use) and cash (pay-as-you-
go).  Paying in cash avoids the cost of interest, but requires the City to accumulate 
sufficient cash to fund the project, while construction costs escalate.  Using debt to finance 
capital projects incurs interest expense but allows the project to start earlier, thereby 
avoiding escalation costs.

Page 2 of 28

36



  
Risk Analysis and Stress Test for Long-Term Debt Issuance ACTION CALENDAR

April 26, 2022

The City has an infrastructure system that has allowed it to thrive for over 100 years.  
Now, the City wants to incorporate new technologies and be able to adapt to meet 
environmental trends so that the infrastructure systems can continue to support the City 
for another 100 years. The risk analysis report shows the potential impact of multiple 
factors on the City’s capacity to issue debt during the next thirty years.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no identifiable effects or opportunities associates with this item.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The City administered Request for Proposals #21-11459-C for consulting services to 
determine the City’s bonding capacity. The RFP was published twice with neither 
publication generating responses from the market. In the course of staff researching why 
no responses were received, staff met with GFOA. GFOA provided their relatively new 
risk-modeling approach to the bonding capacity topic. Thus, it was determined, since a 
traditional RFP was not generating market response, that it would be advantageous to 
contract with GFOA for their services to research and develop the risk-model for City of 
Berkeley to evaluate its capacity for issuance of long-term debt.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Not conducting the study

CONTACT PERSON
Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance, 981-7326

Attachments: 
1: Report: Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of Long-Term Debt Affordability (from 
GFOA, 2022)

Page 3 of 28

37



Page 1 of 25 
 

A Risk-Based Analysis and Stress Test of Long-
Term Debt Affordability for the City of Berkeley, 

California 
 

April 2022 

 

Produced by: 

The Government Finance Officers Association 

 

 

 

  

Page 4 of 28

38



Page 2 of 25 
 

Table of Contents 
Section 1 – Introduction................................................................................................................................ 3 

Section 2 – Defining What is “Affordable” Debt ........................................................................................... 5 

Section 3 – Key Financial Indicators and Assumptions ................................................................................. 6 

Section 4 – Results of the Analysis and Recommendations ....................................................................... 15 

Section 5 – Conclusion and Summary ......................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix 1 – Limitations of GFOA’s Analysis .............................................................................................. 25 

 

  

Page 5 of 28

39



Page 3 of 25 
 

Section 1 – Introduction 
Long-term debt is an important tool for municipal governments to invest in long-term assets that serve 
their community. The City of Berkeley, California (City) is considering seeking authorization from its voters 
on a large amount of long-term debt, perhaps up to $600 million, to support the City of Berkeley’s 
infrastructure needs included in its Vision 2050 plan. The debt would be used to fund assets like streets, 
public buildings, and more. This would be the largest amount of debt the City has sought to authorize in 
at least the last 20 years.1 Therefore, the City has, prudently, decided to analyze the long-term 
affordability of this debt and has engaged the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) to perform 
this analysis.  

GFOA is a non-profit association of more than 21,000 state and local government finance professionals 
and elected officials from across the United States and Canada. A key part of GFOA’s mission is to promote 
best practices in public finance, including analyzing important financial risks like the affordability of long-
term debt. GFOA’s approach to risk analysis is distinctive because we use the same basic methods used 
by insurance companies and climate scientists to evaluate risk. We use computer simulation to build 
hundreds, if not thousands, of scenarios of how the City’s financial situation could play out over 30 years. 
Each scenario changes important variables that influence how affordable the City’s debt might be. For 
example, each scenario features a different interest rate environment. The variation in these variables is 
governed by parameters we set, where the parameters keep the variation within the realm of possibility. 
To continue our interest rate example, we gathered data on the rate of change in bond interest rates since 
1970. This information was used to create the parameters for the interest rate environments generated 
for each scenario. We then see how often the City’s debt remains affordable over those thousands of 
scenarios. If the debt is shown to be affordable under a high proportion of those scenarios, then that 
suggests there is a good chance that the debt will ultimately be affordable in the real world. Conversely, 
if the debt is not affordable under a high portion of the scenarios that suggests the debt is unlikely to be 
affordable in the real world. This computer simulation is built in Microsoft Excel using open standards for 
the data.2 We’ll refer to this computer simulation as the GFOA “Risk Model”. The Risk Model is completely 
available to the City to use as it sees fit, including the ability to adjust many of the assumptions utilized 
for the simulations. 

The rest of this report is divided into the following sections: 

• Defining What is “Affordable” Debt. This section describes our rationale for using a typical bond 
ratings analysis as the basis for determining what is “affordable” for the City government.  

• Key Financial Indicators and Assumptions. This section examines the key indicators of debt 
affordability that are taken into consideration by bond ratings companies and our method of 
approximating how the indicators suggest debt affordability in our simulation of the City 
government’s future. 

                                                           
1 History of the City’s bond issuances compiled with the help of the City Clerk. 
2 Visit probabilitymanagement.org for more information on the standards we use. 

Page 6 of 28

40



Page 4 of 25 
 

• Results of the Analysis and Recommendations. In this section, we will address the findings from 
our analysis, including recommendations to help the City retain its credit rating. 

  

Page 7 of 28

41



Page 5 of 25 
 

Section 2 – Defining What is “Affordable” Debt 
The definition of what is “affordable” debt is at the foundation of this analysis.  

The first step to defining what is affordable is defining the type of debt the City is considering. The City is 
considering “general obligation (GO) debt”. This debt is paid for by a dedicated property tax levy. Thus, 
the City does not have to pay for this debt out of its existing revenue streams. This means that taking on 
more general obligation debt will not have a direct impact on the City’s operating budget. There is indirect 
impact – for example, perhaps the higher tax bills faced by taxpayers would cause them to vote against 
future tax measures intended to support the operating budget. Or, maybe residents or businesses feel 
the impact of higher taxes in their businesses or personal finances and decide to move. These are 
important considerations, but are outside the scope of this analysis, which is focused on the direct impacts 
to City government. That said, the financial indicators we will examine do include measures of personal 
income and the size of the tax base relative to the size of the population, which do provide some insight 
into affordability to taxpayers. It is also worth remembering that, according to California law, debt like the 
City is considering must be approved by two-thirds of voters in an election. If approval is not obtained, 
the debt cannot be issued. Thus, taxpayers evaluate the affordability of the proposed debt themselves by 
choosing to approve it or not. However, affordability to the taxpayers might not be that simple. We’ll have 
more to say on this topic later in the report. 

The impact of general obligation debt on the City government’s finances is to add to the City’s total debt 
burden. Generally, the more debt a City takes on the less attractive its debt becomes to investors, all else 
being equal.3 This is because, in theory, the more debt a City has, the less likely it is that it will be able to 
pay it all back. This is important because if the City’s debt becomes too unattractive, it will need to offer 
higher interest rates to investors. That would make it more expensive to borrow and, thus, more 
expensive for the City to make future investments in long-term assets. Thus, we will define debt 
affordability as the extent to which issuing more debt in support of any City Council program might 
cause the City’s debt to cross a threshold point where the City has to offer a higher interest rate to 
attract investors.  

Threshold points where higher interest rates must be offered are known as bond ratings. There are three 
major agencies that issue bond ratings: Moody’s Investors Service, Standard and Poor’s, and Fitch Ratings. 
Each rating agency has its own approach, but there are broad similarities between all three. For purposes 
of this analysis, we will focus on Moody’s approach. This is because Moody’s method is: A) well 
documented; and B) makes use of quantitative financial information to help standardize the approach to 
issuing ratings. This means we can collect the same financial information Moody’s would collect and 
evaluate it in a similar, albeit much simplified, manner. By doing this, our Risk Model was able to 
essentially duplicate the City’s current rating, which is “Aa”, according to Moody’s. Aa is the second best 
rating on Moody’s scale (which is similar to the scales used by the other rating agencies). The complete 
scale is shown in the accompanying table. The reader should note that rating agencies also make finer 
grained distinctions within the rating tiers. For example, technically, the City’s rating is “Aa1”, which 

                                                           
3 Municipal governments might issue more debt, but their tax base and revenues might also continue to grow. In 
this case, all else has not remained equal so the debt of that municipality may not become less attractive.  

Page 8 of 28

42



Page 6 of 25 
 

indicates the City is a strong Aa or at the upper end of what is considered Aa. An Aa2 would be in the 
middle and Aa3 would be considered a weak Aa. For the majority of this report we will not refer to these 
finer grained distinctions. This is, first, in the interest of simplicity. Using just the ratings scale showing in 
our accompanying table, the reader will be required to track six different categories of ratings. Multiplying 
the number of categories by three might make this analysis much more difficult to follow. Second, we do 
not have access to reliable historical data on how big a difference these finer distinctions would make on 
the interest rate the City could obtain for its bonds. We have data back to 1970 for the differences 
between the tiers shown in our table. Therefore, most the analysis will take place at the level of these six 
tiers. Occasionally, though, we will refer to the finer distinctions (e.g., Aa1 vs. Aa2 vs. Aa3) to discuss how 
the City’s credit rating could change in response to different conditions.  

If the City’s debt were to be downgraded to an “A” we would expect 
the City to have to pay a higher interest rate on future debt. How much 
more would depend on the interest rate environment at the time. 
Historically, the difference between the interest rate of Aa and A has 
ranged from 1.05 to 0.08 percentages points, with an average of 0.26 
percentage points. If, for example, a $100 million 30-year bond sold at 
2.26% interest rather than 2.00% interest, this would translate to $5 
million more in total interest cost over the life of the bond. 

To evaluate the affordability of the City of Berkeley’s borrowing plan including its Vision 2050 debt 
issuance plan we can do the following: 

1. Update the key financial indicators used within the Moody’s rating system to reflect what the 
indicators would look like with the additional debt over the 30-year analysis period covered by 
our Risk Model. 

2. Use computer simulation to vary key variables that impact the financial indicators over the 30-
year analysis period. We’ll describe what these variables are and the assumptions our analysis 
makes in the next section.  

Section 3 – Key Financial Indicators and Assumptions 
The purpose of this section is to summarize the key financial indicators used to help frame bond ratings 
and to describe key assumptions we have made with respect to future values of the important variables 
that go into the analysis. Our analysis considers the next 30 years, so we had to make assumptions about 
how key variables would behave. Before we delve into these topics, we’d like to bring five important 
points to the attention of the reader: 

1. The amount of debt the City takes on is not the only, or even primary, factor that determines bond 
ratings. Bond ratings take into account a number of factors besides debt. Therefore, our analysis 
include other factors that impact bond ratings, such as pensions, fund balance and tax base, along 
with debt. 

2. Bond ratings are intended, primarily, to help investors decide how risky it is to invest in a 
municipality’s debt. Though many of the factors bond ratings take into account are reflective of 

Moody’s Rating Scale 
The best-> Aaa 
 Aa 
 A 
 Baa 
 Ba 
The worst-> B or below 

Page 9 of 28

43



Page 7 of 25 
 

the general financial health of a municipality, the ratings are not a perfect measure of financial 
health. This is because ratings are intended to judge the ability of the City to pay back its 
bondholders and nothing more. This is a limited perspective on financial health.4  

3. Bond ratings method are not a purely mechanical exercise where a given value for the financial 
indicators leads to a perfectly predictable bond rating. For example, Moody’s rating method 
includes “notching factors”, which are essentially the wiggle room to adjust a municipality’s rating 
up or down, based on local circumstances and the judgment of bond rating analysts. Nevertheless, 
given that our approximation of the financial indicators that Moody’s uses did produce the City’s 
current rating in our Risk Model, we can assume that the financial indicators will produce useful 
insights into what the City’s rating might be under different circumstances.  

4. Our analysis is based largely on the future looking a lot like the past in many important respects. 
For example, we will see that the size of the City’s tax base is regarded as a big strength by the 
Moody’s evaluation method. We will assume it will continue to be. Of course, it is plausible that 
that a large natural disaster, like an earthquake, could severely damage property stock in Berkeley 
to the point where the tax base is seriously impaired and is no longer the strength it once was. 
These kinds of extreme scenarios (e.g., natural catastrophes) are not within the scope of our 
analysis. This is not to say such scenarios are not important. In fact, GFOA analyzes the impact of 
catastrophic scenarios on municipal financial health on a regular basis. However, given the scope 
for this project we focused on the key financial indicators of the City’s financial health that are 
described in the following pages and not on catastrophe events. The Risk Model is not intended 
as a perfect representation of reality. It has been said “all models are wrong, but some are useful”. 
We would suggest that focusing on the trajectory of key financial indicators given the decisions 
that City makes is a useful perspective on the affordability of its debt plan.  

5. Readers who are not interested in the details of the Moody’s methods and the assumptions we 
made about the future of the City’s finances are invited to skip the rest of this section and go 
directly to the next section for our findings and recommendations. 

The rest of this section will delve into key financial indicators that are salient to bond ratings and which 
underlies how we are defining “debt affordability” for this study.  

The key financial indicators Moody’s considers are described by what Moody’s calls its “scorecard”. 
Moody’s has four broad factors for its bond rating scorecard and a number of sub-factors, which are 
shown in Exhibit 3.1.5 We will summarize each immediately following. With respect to the overview 
provided by Exhibit 3.1, the reader should note the factor weightings. We see that measures of the 
City’s debt constitute only 10% of the total scorecard. Thus, the City’s plan to issue more debt, by itself, 
can only have a marginal impact on the score. The City’s actions with respect to its financial position, in 
whole, will be what really matters for debt affordability.  

  

                                                           
4 A comprehensive approach can be found in GFOA’s Financial Foundations for Thriving Communities. 
5 Our primary source on Moody’s methods is “US Local Government General Obligation Debt” dated January 26, 
2021, published by Moody’s Investors Service. 

Page 10 of 28

44



Page 8 of 25 
 

Exhibit 3.1 – Moody’s Scorecard Factors and Weights (for Local Governments) 

 

Economy / Tax Base 
The tax base ultimately determines if a city can pay back its debt. There are three sub-factors considered: 

Tax-base size: The size of the property tax base is where a municipality draws its revenue from. Currently, 
full value of the property in the City’s tax base is almost double what is necessary to receive the highest 
possible score on Moody’s scorecard. We did not find a reason to think that a radical decline in the value 
of property in the tax base was a probable risk. Of course, events like the 2008 recession and bursting of 
the housing bubble can cause a temporary decline. These kinds of variations are captured in the Risk 
Model. The Risk Model assumes that tax base will grow (and occasionally shrink) at rate that is broadly 
consistent with historical patterns, but the Risk Model does not assume a constant rate of growth. For 
example, the Risk Model simulates market pullbacks like the Great Recession (and worse). However, we 
did not find a reason to think that a dramatic, long-term decline in the City’s property values was a high-
probability risk. The Risk Model does provide the user with the ability to easily change growth rate 
assumptions in order to see the effect of more optimistic or pessimistic outlooks.  

Full-value per capita: This indicator adds in population size to the size of the tax base. The per resident 
property wealth shows the availability of tax-generating resources relative to the users of public services. 
This measure is almost 1/3 above what is necessary to receive the highest score on Moody’s scorecard. 
We did not find reason to believe that the City’s population would outpace the growth in property values 
to the point where it would risk the City falling below the Moody’s threshold for the best score. In fact, a 
long-term forecast sourced from Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) shows the City’s 
population forecasted to grow just over 1% per year over the next 30 years. This growth does not seem 
to be so great that it puts a strain on City finances and, thus, pose a risk to the City’s bond ratings. 

Page 11 of 28

45



Page 9 of 25 
 

Median Family Income: A community with high-income taxpayers may have greater ability to cover the 
cost of debt. The City is almost exactly in the middle of the two threshold values that bound the second 
highest score on Moody’s scale. Presumably, the large number of college students in Berkeley exert 
downward pressure on this measure. That said, we did not uncover a high probability risk that the City 
would fall out of the second-highest category over the next 30 years. 

Finances 
This factor considers a local government’s cushion against the unexpected, the City’s ability to meet 
existing financial obligations, and its flexibility to adjust to new ones. There are four sub-factors 
considered: 

Fund Balance: Fund balance describes the net financial resources available to a municipality in the short 
term. It is essentially the “rainy day fund” or “self-insurance” to react to unplanned, unavoidable costs 
(like natural disasters). More fund balance would presumably reduce the risk of a local government failing 
to repay debt because of a natural disaster or other catastrophe. For the City, this measure is currently 
almost 2/3 above what is necessary to receive the highest score on Moody’s scorecard (Aaa). That said, 
fund balance is not nearly as stable a quantity as the economic forces we reviewed above. For example, 
in the years 2007 to 2013 the City’s annually available reserves were less than half of what they’ve been 
in the last few years. In fact, the City would have been in the Aa, rather than Aaa, equivalent tier for six of 
the last 15 years (though not too far below the Aaa tier, at least). This means that we shouldn’t take for 
granted that the City will continue to maintain reserves high enough to receive Moody’s highest scores 
for the entire 30-year analysis period. The Risk Model assumes the City has a chance of falling out of the 
Aaa equivalent tier for fund balance. That chance is determined by the City’s historical experience. Over 
the last 15 years the City was below the Aaa threshold six times. So, the Risk Model assumes a six in 15 
chance (or two in five chance) per year that the City falls below the Aaa tier. 

Five-Year Dollar Change in Fund Balance as % of Revenues: The reason for this measure is much the same 
as stated above, except this takes longer-term perspective on fund balance. Fund balance can change 
fairly rapidly, year to year, compared to some of the other indicators in the Moody’s scorecard. So, this 
measure checks to see if fund balance is growing or shrinking and by how much. Currently, the City is just 
above the threshold required for the highest score. However, this is an example of a measure that is highly 
relevant to the interest of bondholders, but not as well aligned with the interests of the people who live 
in Berkeley. From the perspective of bondholders, it would not be a bad thing if the City continued to build 
its fund balance indefinitely. That continues to reduce the risk of a default. However, from the citizens’ 
perspective there is a clear upper limit on the amount of fund balance a local government should hold. At 
some point the opportunity cost (in terms of higher taxes or foregone services) is not worth the benefit 
the public receives from the City having a larger fund balance. Thus, given that the City already, by 
Moody’s own standards, has a large fund balance, it is questionable whether the City would continue to 
grow the fund balance in the future at the same rate it has in the past. Thus, it seems unlikely the City 
would continue to achieve the highest score under the Moody’s rating system. However, that said, 
Moody’s documentation does imply that local governments with a strong fund balance might be given 
consideration for maintaining that fund balance rather than continuing to grow it - Moody’s might adjust 
ratings upwards to reward maintaining stability of a high level of fund balance. This means that the City 

Page 12 of 28

46



Page 10 of 25 
 

may not enjoy the top-rated scores it had gotten in the past on this measure, but if it maintains a high 
level of fund balance, it might only drop to the second highest score. The Risk Model gives the user the 
option to choose the growth rate, from maintaining a rate of growth equivalent to Aaa to remaining flat 
(equivalent to an A rating). For the purposes of this report, we chose to make this indicator equivalent to 
an Aa rating. The rationale is that the City probably can’t keep historic levels of growth indefinitely, but 
the high amount of fund balance the City usually carries would, hopefully, be enough to avoid falling down 
to an A rating. 

Cash Balance: Cash is a similar measure to fund balance – but focuses on “money in the bank”, whereas 
fund balance can include some non-liquid resources. For the City, this measure is currently almost three 
times above what is necessary to receive the highest score on Moody’s scorecard. At the City, cash 
balances and fund balance levels tend to mirror each other. So, just as the City did not have nearly the 
same level of fund balance in the past as it does today, it did not have the same level of cash either. Thus, 
like fund balance, this means that we shouldn’t take for granted that the City will continue to maintain 
cash high enough to receive Moody’s highest scores for the entire 30-year analysis period. That said, given 
that cash appears to be so far above what Moody’s is looking for that it would take much more 
extraordinary circumstances for the City’s cash to fall below Aaa equivalence. The Risk Model assumes 
that the City has a 2 in 15 chance of falling to the Aa tier, each year. This chance is smaller than fund 
balances falling to the Aa tier. The rationale is the City’s cash amounts are very high above the Aaa 
threshold, so would have a long way to fall to reach Aa territory.  

Five-Year Dollar Change in Cash Balance as % of Revenues: The rationale and issues related to this 
measure are much the same as discussed above. Cash is a more liquid resource for dealing with 
unplanned, unavoidable expenditures and this measure shows the rate and direction of growth. The City 
is currently well above the amount required for Moody’s highest score, but, again, the same rate of growth 
probably cannot keep up indefinitely. Like fund balance, though, it seems possible that Moody’s might 
not penalize the City for mere stability in its amounts of cash on hand, if the amounts on hand were kept 
high. The Risk Model uses identical assumptions for this measure as for the fund balance trend, described 
above. 

Management 
The legal structure of a local government and management under which it operates influence the 
government’s ability to maintain a balanced budget, fund services, and continue to derive resources from 
the local economy. There are two measures in this category. 

Institutional Framework: This factor measures the municipality’s legal ability to match revenues with 
expenditures based on its constitutionally and legislatively conferred powers and responsibilities. For 
example, a local government with many mandated responsibilities, but with little ability to raise revenues 
would score poorly on this measure. Our examination of the City’s prior Moody’s bond ratings suggest 
that the City, for this measure, was rated consistently with is overall rating: Aa. In other words, the second 
best possible score. We found no high probability risk that the City’s legal powers and responsibilities 
would change dramatically in the coming years, so we assume the City’s score on this measure will remain 
constant throughout the analysis period. 

Page 13 of 28

47



Page 11 of 25 
 

Operating History: Operating history is essentially the extent to which the City runs annual surpluses or 
deficits. The City’s current measure is well above what is required for Moody’s highest score. However, 
because surpluses and deficits are determined annually, we shouldn’t assume stability in this measure 
over a long-term period. We looked at the last 15 years of the City’s history to see the size of surpluses 
(there were no deficits) and used those to simulate what surpluses will be in the future. This results in a 
more conservative assumption than simply continuing the most recent trends indefinitely into the future.  

Debt / Pensions 
Debt and pension burdens are measures of the financial leverage of a community. The more leveraged a 
tax base is, the more difficult it is to service existing debt and to afford additional debt, and the greater 
the likelihood there will be difficulties funding debt service. There are four measures in this category.  

We gave this category the most analytical attention for a number of reasons. First, debt was the primary 
focus of the City in commissioning this study. The amount of debt the City is considering issuing will have 
a direct impact on some of the measures in this category. Second, as we will see, the City’s current 
performance on debt indicators is already weak compared to the other indicators we have reviewed. 
Third, this section includes pensions, which, as we will see, are the weak spot in the City’s performance 
on the Moody’s scorecard.   

We will first briefly overview the four measures in this category and then go into details on the 
assumptions made for future values of these indicators. 

Debt to Full Value: This evaluates net direct debt relative to full value of the property in the City’s tax 
base. This metric tells us how onerous future debt service payments could be to the tax base. Currently, 
the City is in the second best category for scoring on this measure. 

Debt to Revenues: This compares debt to the City’s regular revenue stream. Moody’s does not subtract 
from the calculation any debt whose principal and interest is paid by taxes, even if those costs are external 
to the General Fund. Under this definition, the City gets a score on the Moody’s scorecard equivalent to 
an “A” rating.  

Three-year Average of Moody’s-Adjusted Net Pension Liability to Full Value. This measures the 
magnitude of a local government’s pension obligations relative to its tax base.6 Similar to the debt burden 
evaluation, the tax base serves as a proxy for future revenue-generating capacity to amortize accrued 
pension obligations. The City’s score here is equivalent to a “Baa” bond rating. 

Three-year Average of Moody’s-Adjusted Net Pension Liability to Operating Revenues. This metric seeks 
to measure pension obligations relative to the size of the local government’s budget. The metric attempts 
to reflect that amortization of accrued net pension obligations could divert revenues out of future budgets 
and lead to funding shortfalls. The City’s score here is equivalent to a “Ba” bond rating (the second worst 
rating). 

                                                           
6 Note that Moody’s adjusts the standard net pension liability measure found in government financial reports to 
include less favorable assumptions on the discount rate for pension investments. The details behind these 
calculations are available in the Risk Model supplied to the City by GFOA. 

Page 14 of 28

48



Page 12 of 25 
 

Assumptions for Future Indebtedness: 

• The Risk Model includes all repayment schedules for the City’s existing debt and assumes debt 
will be repaid in the times and amounts currently scheduled. 

• The Risk Model includes three categories of “new” debt. The detailed assumptions behind the 
new debt are described in more detail later, but the general categories of new debt are: 

o Debt that the voters have previously authorized, but which the City has not issued. This is 
in the amount of $117 million in principal.  

o Debt issued to support Vision 2050 or other programs. The user defines the amount of 
principal in the Risk Model. The Risk Model assumes that the number entered by the user 
will be approved by the voters. 

o Debt issued in the far future. Given we are taking a long-term (30 years) perspective, we 
should not assume that future City Councils will not issue any more debt. The amounts 
and timings of these simulate future debt issues are described as part of the following 
bullets. 

• For all new debt, the user can choose the length of the repayment schedule. For the purposes of 
this report, we assumed 30 years. This is consistent with the City’s past practices and current 
plans. We assume level repayment schedules (i.e., no front or back loading of repayment 
schedules). We assume no debt refunding, refinancing, etc. 

• For all new debt, we simulate the interest rate, where historical rates are used as a model. Here 
are some key points: 

o We use forecasts of the yield on ten-year US Treasuries for the next two years to simulate 
the interest rate environment for the next two years. We do this so that the Risk Model 
does not generate short-term results that are divergent from short-term expectations. 

o After two years, the Risk Model randomly generates future interest rates, where the rate 
of change in the rates is entirely consistent with the rate of change in the interest rates 
for Aaa-rated GO bonds and US Treasuries since 1977. We used the historical rate of 
change to simulate downward, upward, and stable trajectories for long-term interest 
rates. 

o The Risk Model assumes bond interest rates will not go below zero. The user has the 
option to adjust this rate floor. 

o The Risk Model includes the City’s informal policy that the City will not borrow if rates are 
above 5%. If rates are simulated to go above 5% in any year any simulated, then borrowing 
is deferred until rates go back below 5%.  

o For the purpose of this report, the Risk Model assumes that rates are just as likely to go 
up in the future as they are to go down, with the exception of the first two years. As 
discussed above, the next first years are determined by the 10-year US Treasury forecasts 
produced by other organizations. For the years after that, the user is able to adjust how 
likely rates are to go up or down to explore assumptions other than what we assumed for 
this report. So, if the user wanted the Risk Model to simulate an interest environment 
where it is twice as likely rates would go up, then that assumption could be entered. In 
no case will the rates rise at a greater rate of change than has been observed historically.  

Page 15 of 28

49



Page 13 of 25 
 

• The Risk Model assumes that the City will issue new debt that has been previously authorized by 
voters, but which have not yet been issued. This amounts to $117 million in additional principal 
that is added to the City’s debt burden over the next five years. The debt is issued according to a 
user-defined schedule. 

• For the debt to support more borrowing, including the City of Berkeley Vision 2050, in the Risk 
Model, the user can choose the amount of debt the City will issue. The Risk Model allows the user 
to choose between the options below. The options are completely user definable so the City can 
add, change, or delete options as it likes: 

o An option for $300 million in debt, which represents the lower end of what the City 
Council has discussed. Note that the City Council has discussed supplementing this 
amount of debt with a parcel tax. The parcel tax would not impact the City government’s 
performance on the key indicators in the Moody’s scorecard other than requiring the City 
issue less debt. Hence, the parcel tax is not included in the Risk Model. 

o An option for $600 million in debt, which represents the upper end of what the City 
Council has discussed. 

o An option for $900 million in debt. This is included just for demonstration purposes, so 
the user can see what a larger amount of debt would do to the model results. 

• Debt issued to support more borrowing for the 2050 Vision Plan are assumed to be issued in 
increments evenly throughout the 30-year analysis period. The user can change this assumption 
and make the debt issued on any schedule they would like.  

• We should not assume that the debt issued to support the City of Berkeley Vision 2050 will be the 
last debt the City issues for 30 years. Since 2000, the City has tried to gain voters’ approval to issue 
new debt in seven of ten election years. Thus, we must assume that future City Councils will have 
plans to issue debt to support future projects. The model simulates this under the following 
assumptions: 

o The City will not try to issue new debt again until 2028. This assumption can be easily 
changed by the user. 

o For any election year after 2028, there is a 70% chance that the City will try to gain 
approval to issue new debt. This is based on the fact the City has historically tried in 70% 
of election years, though this assumption can be adjusted by users. 

o The amount of debt the City attempts to issue in any given election year varies between 
$13 million and $150 million. This is based on the inflation adjusted amounts the City has 
tried to issue in the past. The Risk Model adjusts this amount upwards in future years to 
account for the effects of inflation.  

o The public approves proposed new issues at the same rate it has in the past, including 
partial approvals. 

Assumptions for Future Pension Liabilities 

For pension liabilities, we developed a single alternative pension assumption, based on the work of the 
City’s CPA firm. This assumption assumes a negative 1 percentage point adjustment to the discount rate 
applied to pension investments. So, if the baseline, status quo assumption is 7.15%, then the alternative 
would be 6.15%. The user can activate or deactivate the alternative assumption on the Risk Model 

Page 16 of 28

50



Page 14 of 25 
 

dashboard. If activated, the alternative assumption is applied across all of the thousands of scenarios the 
risk model produces. If is not activated, it is not applied to any of the scenarios.  

The Risk Model also includes an assumption for annual increase in pension liability and the current annual 
rate of 3.96%. GFOA would like to acknowledge the assistance of Dan Matusiewicz, Senior Finance 
Consultant, at GovInvest for providing assistance on formulating this assumption, which is based on a 
6.8% discount rate and wage growth of 2.5%. 

  

Page 17 of 28

51



Page 15 of 25 
 

Section 4 – Results of the Analysis and Recommendations 
In this section, we will address the finding from our analysis, including recommendations to help the City 
retain its credit rating. 

Let’s Put Debt in Context of the Financial Indicators Used to Estimate Debt Affordability 
The City’s level of debt only impacts the financial indicators that comprise a total of 10% of the Moody’s 
scorecard. Put another way, 90% of the scorecard result is determined by factors other than the City’s 
debt! That means that long-term affordability of the City’s debt will be influenced by things like how the 
City manages its tax base, fund balance, its pensions, and its budget. Exhibit 3.1 provided details on the 
relative importance of the different factors in the Moody’s scorecard. To recap some of the more notable 
items: 

• Pensions are equal to 10% of the scorecard result, or the same as debt. 
• Fund balance and cash are equal to 30% or are three times the importance of debt.  
• A balanced budget is equal to 10% of the scorecard result.  
• Economic factors, like full value and median family income, are equal to 30% of the scorecard 

result. 

According to our re-creation of the Moody’s scoring method, today, the City is just short of a score that 
would be consistent with an Aaa rating. The City’s pension liabilities are the main culprit for keeping the 
City from that score. This conclusion seems consistent with what bond analysts have conveyed to the City: 
that the City would have an Aaa rating if not for its pension situation. This means that the City has some 
“distance to fall” in order to get down to an A rating, at least according to the quantified scoring system 
and the assumptions we described in this report.  

All this means that the City’s decision to issue debt must be done in the context of the other factors that 
impact affordability when trying to determine the chance that additional debt will reduce the City’s bond 
rating.  

So, to review, the City’ strengths are: 

• The City’s economic base is firmly in Aaa territory and there does not seem to be a plausible risk 
of it falling out of that tier. The economic base accounts for almost 1/3 of the rating. 

• The City’s fund balance and cash are firmly in Aaa territory as well. Even though these measures 
are, by nature, more volatile than the measures of the economic base there seems to be low risk 
that they would fall completely out of Aaa territory much less all the way down to an A-rating 
territory (assuming the City maintains a strong reserve policy, as further described in our 
recommendations). Fund balance and cash measures also constitute almost one-third of the 
rating.  

• The City has also consistently maintained a balanced budget. 

And, the City’s weaknesses are: 

Page 18 of 28

52



Page 16 of 25 
 

• The City’s pensions are in Baa territory currently. Some observers believe there is a case for a 
lower discount rate to estimate the City’s pension liability. A lower discount rate would make the 
liability to go up substantially. The City’s CPA firm produced the calculation for a 1 percentage 
point reduction and we included it in the Risk Model as an option for the user to activate, if they 
wish. If this scenario came to fruition, pensions would become an even greater drag on the City. 
In fact, the Risk Model shows a good chance that pensions reach B territory (the worst rating) well 
before the end of the 30-year analysis period. Finally, it is worth noting that the Risk Model shows 
that one of the pension measures in the scorecard (pension liabilities compared to revenues) is at 
risk of slipping down to a score equivalent to the next lower rating tier (Ba) within in the next five 
years. As we will discuss more later, a continued downward trajectory on pensions could influence 
bond ratings analysts to give the City a lower rating.  

• Though the City’s current indebtedness is not nearly the problem that pensions are, it is not 
helping the City’s bond rating either. Currently, debt measures sit between Aa and A territory.  

More debt reduces the City’s score on the indicators. We can illustrate with the table below. The table 
shows the City’s scores under different simulations, starting with the City’s current score and ending with 
the City’s simulated score at the end of 30 years. The simulation does not produce a single score for the 
end of 30 years, but rather produces a range of possible scores. For this reason, we show the average, 
optimistic, and pessimistic outcomes.7  The table uses assumptions identical to that described earlier in 
this report and assumes $600 million of new debt in support of the City’s programs, including Vision 2050, 
plus debt issued by future City Councils, as described earlier. We can see that the score at the end of the 
30 years is worse than the City’s current score under all three perspectives in the table (average, 
optimistic, pessimistic). The good news is that when we consider just debt, at least the scores do remain 
broadly consistent with an Aa rating. But, what about if we consider more than just debt? Other factors 
do enter into the final bond rating of course. 

Exhibit 4.1 – Simulated Results on Moody’s Scorecard under the Assumptions Described Earlier in the 
Report 

 Score for Each Rating City's 
Current 
Score 

Average Score 
at end of 30 

years 

Optimistic 
Score at end of 

30 years 

Pessimistic 
Score at end of 

30 years Rating Min Max 
Aaa 0.05 1.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Aa 1.5 2.5 1.65 2.14 2.00 2.30 
A 2.5 3.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Baa 3.5 4.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Ba 4.5 5.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

B or below 5.5 6.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 

                                                           
7 Optimistic and pessimistic are defined as the points at which 5% of the outcomes produced by the model are above 
or below the point indicated on the table.  

Page 19 of 28

53



Page 17 of 25 
 

To examine the other considerations that go into a rating, Exhibit 4.2 changes the assumptions in the Risk 
Model to be less favorable for the City, including: a lower discount rate on pensions (1 percentage point) 
and performance equivalent to an Aa rating for fund balances, cash balances, and operating history (which 
would be less favorable than the City’s recent history would suggest). We can see that the City’s scores 
now deteriorate enough that the pessimistic outcome places the City in the “A” rating equivalent scoring 
tier. What the table does not show is how the scores change for periods less than 30 years. The Risk Model 
tells us that the risk of a downgrade is present in the near-term future, not just the long-term future. This 
is because the City is close enough to the next lower tier of scoring for its debt and pension measures that 
it is plausible that the City will reach these lower tiers in five to ten years. We’ll discuss this more detail in 
the next section. Over the long-term, the City’s strong property tax base (and growth in that base) can 
balance out some of the nearer-term challenges (assuming the challenges don’t also get worse). 

Exhibit 4.2 – Simulated Results on Moody’s Scorecard under Less Favorable Assumptions  

 Score for Each Rating City's 
Current 
Score 

Average Score 
at end of 30 

years 

Optimistic 
Score at end of 

30 years 

Pessimistic 
Score at end of 

30 years Rating Min Max 
Aaa 0.05 1.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Aa 1.5 2.5 1.65 2.39 2.30 0.00 
A 2.5 3.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.50 

Baa 3.5 4.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Ba 4.5 5.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

B or below 5.5 6.5 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 

The reader will notice that even on this second table, the scores are certainly not disastrous, by any means: 
the average score is still within the Aa equivalent tier. That said, we must remember that the final bond 
rating a municipality receives is not a purely mechanical exercise, where the key financial indicators 
dictate the bond rating. According to Moody’s: “The scorecard is not a calculator. Its purpose is not to 
determine the final rating, but rather to provide a standard platform from which to begin viewing and 
comparing local government credits. It therefore acts as a starting point for a more thorough and 
individualistic analysis.” Put another way, the rest of the rating is subject to a human element: the rating 
analyst. In a real-life scenario characterized by unfavorable performance across the indicators that 
Moody’s looks at we can’t discount the possibility that the analyst might decide to “put a thumb on the 
scale” and raise the chance of a downgrade. For example, perhaps a significant amount of new debt along 
with further deterioration in the City’s pension situation dampens the rating analyst’s enthusiasm for the 
City of Berkeley’s debt even more than the Moody’s scorecard suggests. Finally, it could be possible that 
rating agencies could change the weightings of the indicators they consider. GFOA has observed that the 
measures favored by rating agencies and the relative weight placed on them has evolved over time. It 
seems unlikely that debt and pensions would come to occupy a less important place in rating 
considerations given that they currently constitute a relatively small consideration compared to fund 
balance / cash and tax base. Given that pensions and debt are biggest risk to future debt affordability, 
we’ll examine this risk more in the next subsection. 

Page 20 of 28

54



Page 18 of 25 
 

Finally, the model can address different interest rate environments and property markets. Some observers 
believe that sustained higher interest rates may result from efforts to combat inflation. This would result 
in economic stagnation and impact on the housing market. In fact, the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas 
recently stated that the property market is showing "signs of a brewing U.S. housing bubble”. The 
implication is that bubbles pop, with the types of consequences we saw in the 2008. To explore these 
concerns further, we adjusted the model assumptions to give more weight to a rising interest rate 
environment and to reduce, by half, the chances of growth in the City’s revenue and property values. Note 
that the baseline assumptions in the Risk Model did not assume uninterrupted growth in property values, 
but did assume a good chance of a long-term upward trajectory. These new assumptions result in a good 
chance of long-term stagnation. Under these assumptions, unsurprisingly, the City’s is at significantly 
greater risk of slipping below an Aa equivalent score. Interestingly, the City’s informal policy of not 
borrowing at rates above 5% makes a noticeable difference in the high interest rate environment: the City 
stops borrowing at a certain point and pays back existing debt, which helps its score. The take-away is 
that unfavorable turns in the economic environment will have a noticeable impact on the financial 
indicators and increase the risk of a ratings downgrade. 

Pension, Debt and the Risk Posed to the City’s Bond Rating 
Though pension and debt do not dominate the Moody’s scorecard and are not the most important 
consideration in bond ratings, they still can influence bond ratings. For example, especially poor 
performance or notable deterioration from previous performance might capture the attention of the 
bond ratings analyst. To illustrate, the table below displays results from one of thousands of simulations 
the Risk Model produced, using the more unfavorable assumptions described in the previous section. We 
chose to illustrate using the more unfavorable assumptions because it helps make the point we wish to 
make more clearly. Also, keep in mind this is just one of the thousands of simulations we developed, so 
it's not intended to show generalizable results (unlike the tables in the last section which summarized 
results from across the thousands of simulations). 

The top set of rows in the table shows the City’s current values for the key financial indicators associated 
with debt and pension in the Moody’s scorecard. The next set of rows shows the scores the indicators 
receive under the Moody’s methodology. The scores can range from 1 to 6, where 1 is the best (Aaa 
equivalent) and 6 is the worst (equivalent to B or below). The final row is the average of all indicators in 
the Moody’s scorecard, which includes indicators not shown in the rows above (e.g., tax base, fund 
balance, etc.). Remember that the average is weighted towards the indicators Moody’s deems most 
important (see Exhibit 3.1).  

We see that the City’s current score across all indicators is a 1.65 (bottom left corner), consistent with a 
strong Aa rating. However, as we move to right and further into the future, we see City’s score on debt 
and pensions deteriorate (the numbers on the 1 through 6 scale get higher). We can also see the average 
score move upwards. The movement upwards is not as dramatic because debt and pensions only account 
for 20% of the total score. The measures that account for the other 80% perform well, often in Aaa 
territory. Nevertheless, we see that although the City’s score remains consistent with an Aa rating, it has 
become consistent with a weak Aa (or Aa3 in Moody’s terminology). It should be noted that the cutoff 

Page 21 of 28

55



Page 19 of 25 
 

points used in the table to differentiate strong from weak come directly from Moody’s documentation.8  
With this in mind, it becomes more understandable why an analyst might decide to downgrade the City 
to an A rating, if they observe the City’s scorecard result fall from a strong to a weak Aa. They might 
conclude that the possibility of continued decline, for example, merits a lower rating.  

Exhibit 4.3 – Example Results from a Simulation the Risk Model Produced 

 

Finally, the Risk Model can be used to explore different weightings on financial indicators. For instance, 
we could give greater weight to pensions and debt and less to cash and fund balances (perhaps because 
cash and fund balance measures are very similar, so weighting both heavily in the analysis could be seen 
as “double counting”). This feature of the Risk Model could be used to mimic how a ratings analyst might 
decide to weigh the indicators differently than Moody’s standard documentation suggests. 
Unsurprisingly, weighting debt and pensions more puts downward pressure on the City’s scores. 

Develop and Maintain Strong Financial Policies 
Financial policies can help the City maintain its good bond rating. An example is the City’s General Fund 
Reserve Policy. GFOA’s review of the City’s policy finds that it includes all the critical features of a good 
policy and calls for a reserve equal to Moody’s Aaa equivalent threshold. That said, it is important to recall 
that Moody’s looks across all “operating funds”, which includes more than the General Fund. Hence, there 
could be an argument for defining reserve policies for other critical operating funds.  

The City also has a debt policy. The policy has many of the features of a good policy, but there may be 
some opportunities for improvement. Particularly salient to our discussion of bond ratings is debt 
affordability. The City’s debt policy notes that “the City is subject to debt capacity limit for its general 
obligation bonds: 15% of assessed value.” This amount of debt would be equivalent to the second lowest 
rating, Ba, under Moody’s scoring. Hence, there may be a case for defining a more locally appropriate 
debt affordability policy. For example, even under the most aggressive assumptions of how much debt 
the City might issue, the Risk Model did not show that there was a high chance that debt issued in support 
of the Vison 2050 would bring the City’s scorecard result below an “A” equivalent score on the measure 
                                                           
8 Note that Moody’s doesn’t use the terms “strong” and “weak”, but rather a numeric code. We elected to use the 
more descriptive terms of “strong” and “weak” in order to make the table more understandable.  

Now 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
VALUES FOR INDICATORS

Net Direct Debt / Full Value 1.3% 2.2% 2.3% 2.2% 3.0% 2.9% 2.7% 3.5% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8%
Net Direct Debt / Operating revenues (x) 0.76 1.29 1.34 1.86 1.78 1.69 2.08 2.28 2.20 2.10 2.01

 Adjusted Net Pension Liability (3-Year Average) to Full Value (%) 8.7% 13.7% 13.7% 13.8% 14.0% 14.1% 14.7% 15.2% 16.4% 17.7% 18.8%
Adjusted Net Pension Liability (3-Year Average) to Revenues (x) 5.24 7.73 8.26 8.49 8.72 8.90 8.80 9.17 9.44 9.67 9.93

SCORE FOR DEBT & PENSION INDICATORS (1 THRU 6 SCALE)
Net Direct Debt / Full Value 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Net Direct Debt / Operating revenues (x) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
 Adjusted Net Pension Liability (3-Year Average) to Full Value (%) 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6

Adjusted Net Pension Liability (3-Year Average) to Revenues (x) 4 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6

SCORE FOR TOTAL OF ALL INDICATORS (1 THRU 6 SCALE) 1.65 2.2 2.2 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.3
^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

Strong Weak Weak Weak Weak Weak Weak Weak Weak Weak Weak
Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa Aa

Years into the Future

Page 22 of 28

56



Page 20 of 25 
 

comparing debt to property value of the tax base. The A rating is defined as debt equal to between 1.75% 
and 4% of property value. This might be a good starting point for defining a locally affordable limit. The 
City could “stress test” affordability by simulating larger issues to see how much pressure is placed on the 
scorecard result by increasing the amount of debt. It could be that the City’s strong tax base and fund 
balance / cash practices would make it practical to incur debt beyond 4% of property value without putting 
the score at too much risk, but perhaps 15% is still too much. Of course, we must remind ourselves that 
bond ratings consider only the interest of the City’s creditors. Just because creditors are willing to lend 
does not mean the City should borrow. More debt also places more of a burden on taxpayers. Taxpayer 
burden should be analyzed as part of developing a debt affordability policy. We’ll discuss this more in one 
of our other recommendations, later in this report. 

Another opportunity for improvement of the City’s debt policy might be to define interest rate ceilings for 
issuing debt. GFOA understands that the City has an informal policy that considers “5%” the interest rate 
ceiling beyond which the City will not issue debt. Formalizing this policy, or something like it, could help 
make a positive impression on rating analysts. The GFOA Risk Model can be used to help the City stress 
test different policy choices because the user can customize the interest rate ceiling the Risk Model uses 
and adjust assumed behavior of the interest rate environment. 

Finally, a structurally balanced budget policy could be helpful. The City has a good history of running 
budget surpluses. A municipal government is subject to legislative requirements to pass a balanced 
budget. However, the definition of a balanced budget is just that inflows equal outflows for the year and 
says nothing about the long-term sustainability of how the budget is balanced. For example, according to 
the law, an asset could be sold to pay for the compensation of permanent City staff positions. An asset is 
a one-time revenue while staff compensation is a recurring expenditure, so this strategy would not be 
advisable even if it is legal. A structurally balanced budget policy commits a local government to adopting 
a budget that is balanced using sustainable strategies. GFOA is happy to provide the City with templates 
for such a policy, if the City is interested in pursuing it. This kind of policy would support both a strong 
score in the “operating history” and, perhaps, the “institutional framework” measures in the Moody’s 
system. For example, Moody’s recognizes “unusually strong budget management and planning” as a 
“notching factor” that could justify a higher score for a municipality than the ratios in the scorecard might 
suggest. A structurally balanced budget policy could be an illustration strong budget management and 
planning.  

Page 23 of 28

57



Page 21 of 25 
 

Manage the Risk Posed by Pensions 
As we’ve discussed, pensions are the Achilles’ heel of the City’s bond rating. The City has been considering 
strategies to manage its pension risk and has established an irrevocable supplemental (Section 115) 
pension trust. This could help support a good bond rating. This is supported by conversations the City’s 
Finance Director has had with bond rating agencies: the City’s current pension challenges has kept it from 
achieving an Aaa rating and continued deterioration in pension position could even lead to the City 
slipping to an A or a lower rating.  

Support a Strong Tax Base 
If pensions are the City’s Achilles heel, then its aegis is its tax base. Not only is the tax base directly 
responsible for 30% of the City’s score on the Moody’s scorecard, it directly impacts other measures as 
well. For example, the Moody’s scorecard method compares debt and pensions to the full value of taxable 
property in the City. Of course, the tax base also determines how much revenue the City can raise, which 
influences fund balances and the City’s ability to balance its budget. Therefore, the City should take active 
steps to preserve and to enhance its tax base. GFOA has found that there are unrealized opportunities for 
municipal governments to better reflect the financial interests of municipal government in land use 
planning. After all, land use planning will have an important influence on how the tax base develops and 
how the tax base develops will have an important impact on the quality of life in Berkeley (like the City’s 
ability to invest in infrastructure!). The City can learn more about GFOA’s findings and recommendations 
for how to make the connection between land use planning and city finances in this report [Note to 
reader: as of the date the City of Berkeley’s report was posted the GFOA report on the intersection 
between land use planning and municipal finances has not be released to the public. It will be available 
soon]. 

Develop and Maintain Measures of Tax Burden 
General Obligation (GO) debt is paid for by a special tax levy. Therefore, more GO debt does not place a 
direct pressure on the City’s budget. It does, however, place burden on the City’s taxpayers. Voters 
approve the City’s ability to authorize debt. In that way, voters are speaking as to whether debt is 
affordable to them or not. However, voters are unlikely to have a perfect understanding of the long-term 
implications of debt for their tax burden. In the past, the City has developed measures that show the 
average tax burden for a City of Berkeley homeowner. It may be wise to develop the ongoing capacity to 
monitor and project tax burden, especially if the City plans to continue making use of GO bonds and tax 
measures. The scope of the GFOA Risk Model covers only City government finances, but the Risk Model 
does provide much of the information that the City would need to examine the tax burden placed on 
residents and businesses by future debt. For example, it gives the full range of principal and interest that 
would need to be covered by taxes every year of the 30-year analysis period. It also provides range of the 
potential size of the tax base.  

Be Strategic about Debt Issuance 
The City already has $117 million in previously authorized debt that it plans to issue in the next few years. 
This is included in the Risk Model and in the information we’ve presented in this report. What the risk 
model doesn’t capture is the City staff’s capacity to manage the debt issuance and, critically, to manage 

Page 24 of 28

58

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/the-root-of-local-government-revenues


Page 22 of 25 
 

the projects that the debt is intended to finance. Prioritizing projects to make sure the City doesn’t take 
on more than it can handle will not only make the best use of limited staff capacity it will help limit the 
total amount of debt the City takes on. The City has old debt that will gradually be paid down in the coming 
years. There is some opportunity to moderate the increase in the City’s total debt burden by timing the 
issuance of new debt with expiration of old debt. That said, we must recognize that the amounts of new 
debt being contemplated do significantly exceed the amount by which old debt will decrease in the next 
number of years. So, a total increase in the City’s debt burden would be inevitable under the assumption 
that there $117 million would be issued along with some significant additional amount to support other 
projects including the Vision 2050 project. 

 

  

Page 25 of 28

59



Page 23 of 25 
 

Section 5 – Conclusion and Summary 
In conclusion, the City’s performance on the key financial indicators used in the Moody’s scorecard 
appears to be robust under a variety of circumstances. That said, the final bond rating the City receives is 
not purely a function of these indicators. Human judgment, applied by bond ratings analysts, determine 
the final score. Their judgment could be swayed, negatively, by the risks posed by debt and pensions, 
which we described earlier in this report. We have outlined a number of opportunities for the City to take 
proactive measures to preserve and protect its bond rating and, thus, its capacity to borrow at favorable 
interest rates.  

To conclude, let’s recap the key take-aways from this report. 

• The City has important strengths that bolster its ability to borrow, including a strong tax base, 
fund balances, and a history of balanced budgets. That said, the City’s current policy identifies a 
limit on borrowing equal to 15% of assessed value. Borrowing this much would place the City at 
the equivalent of a Ba score or the second lowest score for the key financial indicator of debt 
compared to the value of property in the City. That would, of course, exert strong downward 
pressure on the City’s bond rating. The City should develop a more locally appropriate debt limit, 
rather than relying on statutory limits (which are set without regard to local context). For example, 
debt equal to 4% of property value would still provide room for the City to issue more debt (the 
City is currently at less than 2%), while keeping that measure with the scoring tier equivalent to 
an A rating. The GFOA Risk Model can be used to “stress test” different policies.  

• An unfavorable turn in the economic environment could impact the City’s bond rating. The Risk 
Model can be used to simulate high interest rate environments and stagnant (or even declining) 
housing markets. Unsurprisingly, these conditions increase the chances that the key financial 
indicators we analyzed will slip into territory associated with a lower bond rating. This is important 
because some observers believe that a higher interest rate environment and stagnant or declining 
property market are real possibilities.  

• Growth in the City’s tax base supports borrowing and repayment of debt. Hence, the City should 
consider how it can use the City’s land use planning capabilities to support the financial capacity 
of City government. Land use planning could be used to improve the revenue productivity of the 
land uses in the City’s jurisdiction. 

• The City’s pension liabilities are a drag on the City and its capacity to borrow. Pensions are clearly 
the weak spot in the City’s bond rating given how the pensions stand today. Some observers 
believe that the current discount rates assumed for the pensions’ investments may be too 
optimistic. Lower discount rates would increase the size of the liability even further. This 
emphasizes the need for the City to find ways to manage its pension debt. 

• The City can adopt certain financial policies to maintain good management practices. This will 
help make a positive impression on bond rating analysts. It is important to remember that even 
though our Risk Models shows the City is likely to perform consistently with an Aa rating in most 
scenarios: A) in many scenarios the City’s position deteriorates from strong Aa to a weak Aa; and 
B) ratings are ultimately the product of the judgment of the bond ratings analyst. An analyst’s 

Page 26 of 28

60



Page 24 of 25 
 

enthusiasm for the City’s debt might dampened enough by this deterioration that the analyst 
decides on a ratings downgrade for the City. 

• Though our analysis focused on the direct impact of debt on the finances of City government, the 
City should also be mindful of the burden on taxpayers. The Risk Model provides much of the 
information the City would need to estimate burdens on taxpayers under different scenarios.  

• The City already has $117 million in previously authorized debt that it plans it issue in the next 
few years. Given the City’s interest in issuing more debt to support the Vision 2050 and other 
programs, the City should remain mindful of the City staff’s capacity to manage new debt issuance 
and, critically, to manage the projects that the debt is intended to finance. Prioritizing projects to 
make sure the City doesn’t take on more than it can handle will not only make the best use of 
limited staff capacity, it will help limit the total amount of debt the City takes on.  

• By following a prudent borrowing strategy, managing pensions, and following other 
recommendations in this report the City should have a good chance of making a positive 
impression on bond ratings analysts and maintaining its ratings, all while preserving some 
additional capacity for the City to borrow. 

  

Page 27 of 28

61



Page 25 of 25 
 

Appendix 1 – Limitations of GFOA’s Analysis 
This section highlights the most important limitations of our analysis.  

Our analysis is not predictive. GFOA does not forecast bond ratings. Rather, our model generates 
hundreds or even thousands of different scenarios to show how the future could unfold. This helps the 
City think more broadly about risk so that it can be more prepared for whatever future event does 
eventually come to pass. Finally, it is important to note that low probability events are still possible events. 
Hence, even if our model says an event has a low probability, then that does not mean it won’t occur. 

GFOA is not a risk management consultant. We worked with the City to find out which risks to bond 
ratings are most salient and then modeled those risks quantitatively to judge the potential impact. It is 
not our place to determine what the City’s attitude towards risk should be or to substitute GFOA’s attitude 
towards risk for the City’s. GFOA builds models to help you explore the questions, but ultimately you have 
to make the decisions.  

Our analysis is based on historical records. Historical data is often a good way to model potential future 
outcomes. However, historical data will not be perfect.  

Our analysis is not inclusive of every risk the City could possibly face. We examined the City’s past history 
and worked with City staff to identify the risks that posed the most clear and present danger to the City’s 
bond rating. However, it is possible that the City could experience a shock that no one was expecting or 
that the City could be impacted by a low probability, but high consequence event.  

The calculation of the key indicators is subject to some interpretation. Though Moody’s does produce 
detailed documentation of their methods, there is still some interpretation required. For example, the 
measure of fund balance is supposed to include all “operating funds”. It is ultimately up to the analyst to 
decide which funds are operating funds and which aren’t. It could be that GFOA would have a different 
interpretation than Moody’s. That said, given that our Risk Model did duplicate the City’s current score, 
our interpretation should at least be close. 

Good decisions do not always lead to good outcomes. Excel simulation tools can enhances one’s 
perception and understanding of uncertainty and risk.9 However, when dealing with uncertainty, even the 
best decision may not lead to a good outcome, if luck goes against you.10  

                                                           
9 “To survive in an increasingly unpredictable world, we need to train our brains to embrace uncertainty,” Emre 
Soyer, Quartz Magazine, January 9, 2017 https://qz.com/879162/to-survive-in-an-increasingly-unpredictable-world-
we-need-to-train-our-brains-to-embrace-uncertainty/.  
10 This is one of the primary lessons in: Annie Duke. Thinking in Bets: Making Smarter Decisions When You Don’t Have 
All the Facts. Portfolio. 2019. 

Page 28 of 28

62

https://qz.com/879162/to-survive-in-an-increasingly-unpredictable-world-we-need-to-train-our-brains-to-embrace-uncertainty/
https://qz.com/879162/to-survive-in-an-increasingly-unpredictable-world-we-need-to-train-our-brains-to-embrace-uncertainty/


No Material
Available for

this Item 

There is no material for this item. 

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

 The City of Berkeley Budget & Finance Policy Committee Webpage: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-
finance

Page 1 of 1

63

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-finance
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/council-committees/policy-committee-budget-finance
arichardson
Typewritten Text
07



64


	2022-06-09 Agenda - Budget
	2022-06-09 Item 01 Minutes
	2022-06-09 Item 02 Discussion on Proposed Biennial Budget
	2022-06-09 Item 03 Council Fiscal Policies
	2022-06-09 Item 04 Recommendation on Climate
	2022-06-09 Item 05 Budget Referral and Updated Guidelines
	2022-06-09 Item 06 Accept the Risk Analysis for Long-Term Debt
	2022-06-09 Item 07 Criteria and Timing for AAO Process



